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Acknowledgement of our Aboriginal community
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA (PathWest) acknowledges the  
Traditional Owners throughout Western Australia and their continuing 
connection to, and custodianship of, the dynamic cultures anchored to the 
physical and spiritual nature of our lands, waters and sky. We acknowledge 
the wisdom of Aboriginal Elders both past, present and emerging and pay 
respect to Aboriginal communities of today.

PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
Level 2, Pathology Building, Fiona Stanley Hospital 
Robin Warren Drive, Murdoch WA 6150 
13 PATH (7284)

The PathWest Annual Report 2021/22 was published in October 2022  
and is available at www.pathwest.health.wa.gov.au.   
This document can be made available in alternative formats on request.

© PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA 2022
Copyright to this material is vested in the State of Western Australia (WA) 
unless otherwise indicated. Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of 
private study, research, criticism or review, as permitted under the provisions of 
the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced or re-used for any purposes 
whatsoever without the written permission of the State of Western Australia. 

*Masks were not required to be worn in healthcare settings  
for parts of 2021/22.
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Statement of compliance
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

For the year ended 30 June 2022.

Honourable Amber-Jade Sanderson MLA Minister for Health and Mental Health.

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby 
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of 
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA for the financial year ended 30 June 2022. 

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006.

Angie Paskevicius  Samantha Elder
Board Chair  A/Chair, PathWest Board Finance, Risk   
PathWest Board and Audit Committee 
29 September 2022  PathWest Board
 29 September 2022 
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Overview
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Foreword
ANGIE PASKEVICIUS, BOARD CHAIR AND ADRIAN BAUTISTA, CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Since 2020, COVID-19 changed the world as we know 
it.  It compelled us to re-assess the way we live and 
offered challenges, which were accepted by 
PathWest in the most exceptional of ways.  It is, 
therefore, with great pride we share with you the 
2021/22 PathWest Annual Report, showcasing some 
of the many achievements our people have made in 
the financial year. 

It is our people’s hard work, tenacity, commitment, 
and dedication that the Board and Executive would 
like to acknowledge, especially those frontline staff, 
scientists, laboratory technicians, pathologists and 
administrative staff who stepped up and have gone 
above and beyond to ensure we continue to provide 
exceptional service to the WA community in an 
extraordinary year.  

As new appointees to our respective roles as Board 
Chair and Chief Executive during the 2021/22 
financial year, we are proud to guide such an amazing 
organisation.

In responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, our 
dedicated staff spent long hours, working on 
weekends and public holidays to meet the demands 
of collecting and testing thousands of COVID-19 
samples.  We extend our sincere appreciation to all 
our dedicated staff who rose to the challenge, and 
their families who supported them during this time.  

This has been one of our busiest years 
overall, conducting almost 13 million tests, 
matching more than 200 organ transplants, 
examining over 27,000 crime scene 
samples for DNA testing and responding to 
in excess of 230,000 calls to 13 PATH. 

We launched our first Strategic Plan in October 2021, 
with extensive input from our staff, patients, 
customers and key stakeholders to solidify our vision 
and goals for the future.  At the heart of the Strategic 

Plan are our six strategic pillars centred around 
community, staff, services, governance, research and 
teaching and the environment, and these are our 
focus for the next five years.

The PathWest Board is now in its second year, 
consolidating and building on the groundwork which 
commenced in its founding year. 

We said goodbye to outgoing Chief Executive Joe 
Boyle and inaugural Board Members Dr Kim Hames and 
Sue van Leeuwin - we extend our sincere thanks to 
them and all of our Executive and Board Members who 
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bring a wealth of knowledge and experience to the 
organisation and make a significant contribution to 
PathWest. 

As COVID-19 restrictions eased, we seized the 
opportunity to visit some of our regional laboratories to 
reconnect with our staff and appreciate first-hand 
about working at our rural and regional sites.  We look 
forward to travelling to more PathWest sites across the 
State as we strive to improve our connectedness. 

One of the lessons from the enforced isolation caused 
by COVID-19 has been a greater awareness and need 
for all of us to connect with each other on a regular 
basis. It is important that we actively work on keeping 
connected.

The commitment of all PathWest staff to our 
community and to each other is truly inspiring and we 
are immensely proud of what we all have been able to 
achieve together. Our performance in 2021/22 has 
positioned PathWest in good stead for further growth 
and transformation in 2022/23 and well into the future.

Foreword
ANGIE PASKEVICIUS, BOARD CHAIR AND ADRIAN BAUTISTA, CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The commitment of all 
PathWest staff to our 
community and to each 
other is truly inspiring and 
we are immensely proud 
of what we all have been 
able to achieve together. 

Adrian Bautista
Chief Executive
PathWest

Angie Paskevicius
Board Chair
PathWest
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About us
PathWest has a long and distinguished history 
of providing pathology and forensic services in 
Western Australia.

Striving to improve the health, wellbeing and safety 
of our communities, PathWest employs a team of 
more than 2,600 dedicated and highly skilled staff, 
who respond to the needs of the communities and 
customers it serves including patients, clinicians,  
WA Police Force (WAPF), State Coroner, WA justice 
system and commercial clients.

Every West Australian will be impacted  
by PathWest services in their lifetime – 
Pathology is there to confirm a pregnancy, 
or to diagnose cancer and help inform  
how it will be treated or find answers for 
bereaved families after the unexpected 
death of a loved one. 

Inform 

70%
 

of all clinical 
decisions 

and diagnose 

100% 
of cancers

Predict 
susceptibility 

to disease

Inform more 
than 11,000 

criminal 
investigations 

each year

Determine 
patient 

prognosis

Monitor disease, 
identifying the 

effectiveness of 
treatments 

Each year PathWest performs almost 13 million tests – from the routine to highly specialised screening. This testing is used to:

Prevent disease by 
identifying risk 

factors in patients 
which can be 

modified 

Personalise 
treatments to 

achieve the best 
clinical outcomes

R
   X

Pathology noun

The study of the nature and cause of human disease or suffering.

The science of the causes and effects of diseases, especially the branch of medicine that deals 
with the laboratory examination of samples of body tissue for diagnostic or forensic purposes.

Origin
• Pathos - ‘suffering, disease’
• Logia ‘to study’
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  Lab Hubs       

  Branch Labs       

  Collection Centres     

*Bubble size relative to activity levels

9
metropolitan 
laboratories

25
metropolitan 

collection 
points

18
regional 

laboratories

51
regional 

collection 
points

1
forensic  
biology 

laboratory

1
State  

mortuary

1
media 

manufacturing 
facility

A Statewide service
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PathWest Purpose, Vision and Values

PURPOSE
Improving the health, wellbeing and safety of our communities.

VISION
PathWest is a leader in our field and positively impacts our society  
and environment through the pursuit of excellence and innovation.

VALUES

ARE for our communities and our staff   
Our services exist to care for our communities and keep them healthy and safe.  
We foster a caring culture with each other and those we serve. 

CCOUNTABILITY for our actions   
We acknowledge our commitments and keep our promises.  
We take responsibility for our actions and our role in delivering excellent outcomes.

ESPECT for ourselves and others   
Our differences and uniqueness are embraced. By respecting who we work with  
and engage with, we create a safe and productive environment.

XCELLENCE at all times   
What we do affects lives. We recognise the need to foster innovation and  
perform our duties and tasks to the best of our abilities and to the  
highest standards.

C

R

A

E

STRATEGY FOR  
THE FUTURE

The updated Purpose, Vision and 
Values form part of PathWest’s 

new Strategic Plan that was 
developed during 2021/22 – 

Read more about this  
on page 21.
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Our Governance
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Enabling legislation
The Health Services Act 2016 WA (HSA 2016) introduced changes to the 
governance of the WA health system by clarifying roles, responsibilities and 
accountabilities and by devolving decision making to the local level. 

Section 32 of the HSA 2016 provides for the establishment of Health Service 
Providers (HSPs). PathWest was established as a Board-governed HSP by the 
Minister for Health under section 32(1)(b) of the HSA 2016 on 1 July 2020. 

Section 70(1)(b) of the HSA 2016 stipulates that the Board is the governing body 
of the statutory authority and is to perform or exercise all the functions of 
PathWest under this Act or any other written law. 

Communication between PathWest and the Minister for Health, Parliamentary 
representatives, Ministers and WA health system is governed by a 
Communication Agreement, with clear lines of accountability and responsibility 
noted within.

Accountable authority
The PathWest Board was the accountable authority for PathWest in 2021/22.

Minister
PathWest is responsible to the Minister for Health, the Honourable  
Amber-Jade Sanderson MLA.
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Governance structure
As a Board-governed HSP, PathWest is responsible and accountable to the 
Minister for Health and the WA Department of Health (DoH) Director General 
as the System Manager. 

The System Manager is responsible for the overall management, performance 
and strategic direction of the WA health system, ensuring the delivery of high 
quality, safe and timely health services. 

The PathWest Board is legally responsible and accountable for providing safe 
and efficient pathology and forensic services to WA.

The Minister for Health appoints the PathWest Board Chair and members, and 
the System Manager is the employing authority of the PathWest Chief 
Executive, who is responsible for day-to-day operations. 

Minister for Health
Hon Amber-Jade Sanderson MLA

Director General, Department of Health (System Manager)
Dr David J Russell-Weisz

PathWest Board
Board Chair Angie Paskevicius

9 Board Members

Chief Executive, PathWest
Mr Adrian Bautista

Chief Pathologist

Executive  
Director Corporate 

Services

Chief Financial 
Officer

Executive  
Director Operations

Manager,  
Office of the  

Chief Executive
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Our Board
PathWest became a Board-governed statutory authority on 1 July 2020.  

The Board was appointed by the Minister for Health and, under section 34 of the 
Health Services Act 2016, is responsible for setting the strategic and operational 
direction of PathWest within the scope of policy frameworks set by the System 
Manager. 

The Board comprises highly capable professionals with a diverse range of 

experience across the fields of medicine and health care, finance, community and 

consumer engagement. The Board works closely with the PathWest Chief Executive, 

who manages the day-to-day organisational operations to deliver safe and efficient 

services to the communities of WA.

The Board met monthly on 11 occasions during 2021/22, and was supported by 

three Committees:

Finance, Risk and Audit Committee Safety and Quality Committee People and Culture Committee 
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Our Board
The PathWest Board comprised the following members for the 2021/22 period:

Professor Christobel 
Saunders AO
Board Chair  
(1 July 2021 – 31 October 2021)

Professor Christobel Saunders AO, 
MB BS, FRCS, FRACS, FAAHMS is 
the James Stewart Chair of Surgery, 
the Head of the Department of Surgery at the 
University of Melbourne (Royal Melbourne Hospital 
precinct) and consultant surgeon in the Department of 
General Surgery at Royal Melbourne Hospital and the 
Peter MacCallum Cancer Institute. She is 
internationally recognised as one of Australia’s most 
prominent research-orientated cancer surgeons.  
She has contributed to breast cancer research 
including clinical trials of new treatments, 
psychosocial, translational and health services 
research. 

In recognition of her sustained career excellence and 
innovation, Christobel has been publicly acknowledged 
through numerous awards and honours including Order 
of Australia 2018, the Uccio Querci della Rovere Award 
(2018), WA Women’s Hall of Fame Inductee (2018),  
WA Scientist of the Year (2017) and Cancer Council 
WA career Achievement Award (2021). She has 
performed research for over 30 years evaluating the 
efficacy and utility of therapy for early breast cancer.

Ms. Angie Paskevicius
Board Chair  
(1 November 2021 – 30 June 2022)

Ms. Paskevicius is an experienced 
Chair, Non-Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Officer, with a 
career that spans over 30 years as 
a Health Practitioner, Senior Executive, business 
owner, executive coach, working in the private, public 
and not-for-profit sectors. 

She is a Non-Executive Director and incoming Chair 
of 360 Health + Community and an executive coach at 
Angie P. Coaching. 

She is the former Chief Executive Officer, and 
Executive Director of Holyoake and Chair of 
Interchange WA.

Professor Tarun 
Weeramanthri
Deputy Board Chair

Professor Weeramanthri is a public 
health physician with extensive 
healthcare and senior executive 
experience. Previous roles include 
as Chief Health Officer, and Assistant Director 
General for Public and Aboriginal Health for the 
Western Australia Department of Health (2008-2018), 
as well as Chief Health Officer, Northern Territory 
Department of Health and Community Services 
(2004-2007).

He is currently President of the Public Health 
Association of Australia, an Adjunct Professor at the 
School of Population and Global Health, University of 
Western Australia, and an independent public health 
consultant. In recent years, he has been a panel 
member on the National Contact Tracing Review and 
conducted two independent inquiries in WA – into 
Impacts of Climate Change on Health (2020), and into 
Hotel Quarantine (2021).
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Our Board
Professor Gelareh Farshid
Board member

Professor Farshid is an experienced 
and internationally renowned senior 
consultant anatomical pathologist, 
executive and non-executive director 
in medicine. A pathologist of 30 years’ experience, 
her principal areas of interest are in breast, soft 
tissue and bone pathology. 

Currently practicing in Adelaide as a Senior 
Consultant Pathologist in the Surgical Pathology and 
Cytopathology Directorates at SA Pathology, Royal 
Adelaide Hospital.  

She is also a Clinical Professor in the Schools of 
Medicine and Medical Sciences at the University of 
Adelaide. 

Prof. Farshid holds various board and committee 
roles, including serving as Chair of Structured 
Pathology Reporting for Breast Cancer for the Royal 
College of Pathologists, Treasurer for the Executive 
Board of the Australasian Division of International 
Academy of Pathology and Executive member of the 
Australian Society of Breast Diseases.

Dr. Sue van Leeuwen
Board member

Dr van Leeuwen is an experienced 
chair and non-executive director, and 
consultant in strategy, governance and 
executive leadership development for over 25 years.

She has held board positions at Community Leadership 
Australia, St John Ambulance WA, Amana Living, 
McCusker Learning and Development, All Saints 
College and Anglican Homes Foundation. 

Additionally, Dr van Leeuwen held Chief Executive 
roles at Leadership Australia, National Research 
Centre, and Swanleigh Residential College. 

Dr van Leeuwen stepped down from the PathWest 
Board in January 2022. 

Dr. Kim Hames
Board member

Dr. Hames is an experienced general 
practitioner, and politician in state 
parliament and local city council 
spanning over 40 years. 

He currently works in a Skin Cancer Clinic in Midland 
and a General Practice in Cannington. 

Dr Hames is renowned for his services to the public as 
former Deputy Premier, Minister for Health, Tourism, 
Training and Workforce Development, and Indigenous 
Affairs. He currently serves as Board Chair for Madalah 
a not-for-profit organisation, offering education 
scholarships for regional and remote Indigenous 
students, and Board Member for Ronald McDonald 
House, WA.

Dr Hames stepped down from the PathWest Board on 
30 June 2022.
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Ms. Michele Dolin
Board member

Ms. Dolin is an experienced 
company director and qualified 
accountant who has held board 
appointments with public sector 
entities, private and listed 
companies, and not-for-profit enterprises. She currently 
is a non-executive director and the Chair of the Audit 
and Risk for Synergy Electricity Generation and Retail 
Corporation and Chair of the Investment and Finance 
Committee for the Sisters of St John of God.

Mr. Kevin Taylor
Board member

Mr. Taylor is an experienced senior 
executive with expertise in strategic 
and operational management for 
over 30 years. As a former Senior 
Executive at St John of God Health 
Care, Mr. Taylor was responsible for national portfolios 
including Corporate and Community Services and was 
the Chief Executive Officer for St John of God 
Pathology for over 16 years. 

Mr. Taylor has also previously contributed to the 
strategic development of pathology and laboratory 
medicine in Timor Leste.

Mr. Rob McPhee
Board member

Mr. McPhee is an experienced 
senior executive within the 
Aboriginal Community-Controlled 
Health Sector and has expertise in 
Aboriginal social justice, human 
rights, community development and leadership in a 
career spanning over 30 years. 

He is currently the Chief Executive Officer for Danila 
Dilba Health Service in Darwin and was formerly the 
Chief Operating Officer for Kimberley Aboriginal 
Medical Services in Broome. 

He is a Director on the Boards of Gayaa Dhuwi  
(Proud Spirit Australia), the National Aboriginal 
Community Controlled Health Organisation and the 
Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance of the NT. 

He is an active participant on various local and 
national Aboriginal health and wellbeing committees, 
working groups and research projects.

Ms. Samantha Elder
Board member

Ms. Elder is an experienced  
senior business leader and has  
held a range of executive and 
non-executive director roles across 
a broad range of industries 
including, public and private healthcare, mining, oil 
and gas services, and manufacturing.  

Her experience as a qualified accountant spans more 
than 25 years in both multinational and not-for-profit 
organisations and she has worked internationally in 
the UK, the UAE and Canada.

Now permanently based in Australia, she is passionate 
about the provision of high-quality patient care and is 
currently Director of Finance and Performance, 
Hospitals for St John of God Healthcare.

Our Board 
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 Name Number of meetings Meeting attended

PathWest Board

Angie Paskevicius - Chair 10 10

Prof. Tarun Weeramanthri - Deputy 10 8

Prof. Christobel Saunders 10 9

Prof. Gelareh Farshid 10 9

Dr. Kim Hames 10 9

Rob McPhee 10 10

Kevin Taylor 10 10

Samantha Elder 10 10

Michele Dolin 10 9

Sue van Leeuwen 5 4

Prof Tarun Weeramanthri attended as an Observer while holding a contract with Department of Health. 

Sue van Leeuwen retired from the Board as of 31 December 2021

*In March 2022 Finance Committee and Audit and Risk Committee combined into 
one becoming Finance Risk and Audit Committee

Finance Risk and Audit Committee

Michele Dolin - Chair 2 2

Samantha Elder 2 2

Kevin Taylor 2 2

Risk and Audit Committee – August 2021 to December 2021

Angie Paskevicius 3 3

Michele Dolin 1 1

Samantha Elder 3 3

Kevin Taylor 3 3

 Name Number of meetings Meeting attended

Finance Committee – July 2021 to November 2021

Angie Paskevicius 3 3

Michele Dolin 1 1

Samantha Elder 3 3

Kevin Taylor 3 3

Safety and Quality Committee

Kevin Taylor - Chair 4 4

Prof. Tarun Weeramanthri 4 4

Prof. Gelareh Farshid 4 4

People and Culture Committee

Dr. Kim Hames - Chair 4 4

Robert McPhee – Chair as of May 2022 4 4

Sue van Leeuwen 2 2

Board and committee attendance
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Board committees in focus

PEOPLE AND CULTURE  
Chair: Mr. Rob McPhee

PURPOSE

Assist the PathWest 
Board in fostering a 
shared vision and 
positive, open culture 
with an emphasis on our 
most important asset – 
our staff; and to cultivate 
appropriate and effective 
engagement between 
staff, clinicians, patients, 
customers and the wider 
communities on matters 
related to people and 
culture.

2021/22 FOCUS
• Continued to work with the PathWest Workforce 

team, providing input to Aboriginal employment 
opportunities, Family and Domestic Violence 
related polices and their work towards 
developing future leaders.   

• Reviewed reports on Integrity and Ethics, 
workforce profiles, mandatory training and 
excess leave management.

• Reviewed results of the 2021 Minister for 
Health ‘Your Voice in Health’ engagement survey 
and monitored progress of departmental action 
plans aimed at driving improvements and 
promoting an engaged and supported workforce 
culture.

• Contributed towards PathWest’s policies and 
initiatives to increase Aboriginal employment and 
improve cultural enrichment and wellbeing of 
Aboriginal staff, with an ambition to advance 
broader Aboriginal community health 
improvements with linkages to the Sustainable 
Health Review Report (2019). Several initiatives 
were developed and commenced, which will 
continue to be a focus of the Committee heading 
into the next year.   

• Worked in collaboration with the Finance Risk 
and Audit Committee to address excess leave 
liability with an emphasis on promoting the 
connection between leave and staff wellbeing.

SAFETY AND QUALITY
Chair: Mr. Kevin Taylor

PURPOSE

Assist the PathWest 
Board in fostering safe 
and high quality 
PathWest services for 
patients and customers 
by monitoring and 
advising on matters 
relating to safety and 
quality and through the 
implementation of, and 
adherence to, the Clinical 
Governance and Quality 
policy frameworks, along 
with fostering a safe 
working environment for 
staff through monitoring 
and advising on matters 
relating to Occupational 
Safety and Health across 
the organisation.

2021/22 FOCUS

• Continued to monitor PathWest’s accreditation 
requirements and status with the National 
Association of Testing Authorities (NATA), 
receiving regular updates on assessments 
conducted across all PathWest laboratories.

• Examined safety and quality performance in all 
areas of PathWest, providing recommendations 
to strengthen reporting to the Committee and 
Board through trend analysis. 

• Continue to have an emphasis on strengthening 
PathWest’s Clinical Governance and 
Occupational Safety and Health Frameworks, to 
ensure clear processes relating to safety and 
quality performance.

• Reviewed research activities with a focus on 
research governance, current and potential 
research activities.
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FINANCE RISK AND AUDIT
Chair: Ms. Michele Dolan

PURPOSE

Provide support, 
assistance and advice, 
and make 
recommendations to the 
PathWest Board 
regarding the adherence 
to the WA Department of 
Health Risk, Compliance 
and Audit Policy 
Framework, and all 
aspects of financial 
management including 
policy, performance, 
governance and contract 
management. The 
Committee also monitors 
adequacy, effectiveness 
and efficiency of internal 
audit and risk 
management processes.

2021/22 FOCUS

• Continued to monitor PathWest’s risk profile. 
Established a strong working relationship with 
the PathWest Audit and Risk Manager and the 
Office of the Auditor General. 

• Strengthened risk escalation processes to both 
the Committee and Board following 
recommendations from an in-depth review of 
the Strategic Risk Register.

• Oversaw the Audit and Risk Manager’s 
PathWest risk-based Annual Internal Audit Plan 
for 2022/23 and the three-year rolling Strategic 
Internal Audit Plan for 2023/24.

• Continued to monitor key projects such as the 
Laboratory Information System (LIS) project 
upgrade and the Pricing and Costing Project to 
ensure comprehensive Board oversight.

• Provided governance over Integrity and Ethics 
items including reviewing the Medical Indemnity 
Insurance for PathWest.

• Oversaw the PathWest Executives shaping of 
the finance and business reporting framework 
and identified areas for greater focus from 
trends and insights analysis.

• Maintained an overview of the Annual Budget 
Cycle with the Department of Health.

Board committees in focus

18 PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22



Forensic Biology Advisory Council
The Forensic Biology Advisory Council (FBAC) was established in November 2020 to 
support the PathWest Board in a standing advisory capacity. This Council was also 
established to address Recommendation 10 of the 2017 Ross Inquiry into PathWest.

The role of the FBAC is to promote the PathWest Forensic Biology Department (FBD) 
and advocate for forensic biology services in Western Australia, ensuring improved 
and transparent communication between all relevant stakeholders including the 
WAPF and the WA justice system. The FBAC ensures PathWest can optimise any 
opportunities to develop and enhance forensic biology services in the State, as well 
as provide advice to the PathWest Board.

The current membership of the FBAC comprises:

• Hon. John Chaney, Retired Judge (Chair)
• Dr. Gavin Turbett, Head of Department, Forensic Biology, PathWest
• Prof. Christobel Saunders AO, PathWest Board Chair/Board Member
• Brad Royce, Assistant Commissioner, WAPF
• Robert Owen, A / Director of Public Prosecutions
• Nicholas van Hattem, Law Society WA
• James Speers, Associate Professor in Forensic Science Murdoch University

The FBAC is scheduled to meet three times per year and provides advice on issues 
such as potential legislative amendments, improvements to service delivery, risk and 
opportunity, and investigating a purpose-built State Forensic Science Centre.

Medal of the Order of Australia
PathWest Deputy Board Chair Prof. Tarun Weeramanthri was conferred with the 
highest recognition for outstanding achievement and service in the 2022 Queen’s 
Birthday Honours.  

Prof. Weeramanthri was honoured for his “significant service to public health 
administration” with a Member of the Order of Australia.

Along with his role at PathWest, Prof. Weeramanthri is a public health doctor, 
adjunct professor at the University of Western Australia (UWA), President of the 
Public Health Association of Australia and is a member of the World Federation of 
Public Health Associations Governing Council. 
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A new strategic plan – a vision for the future 
of public pathology in Western Australia
The PathWest Strategic Plan 2021-2025 was developed 
to support PathWest in its continued growth  as a 
world-class pathology and forensic service. 

The Strategic Plan is a key piece of work,  
spearheaded by the PathWest Board and Executive 
team, to provide a blueprint enabling the organisation 
to deliver on its aspirations and goals. The Plan 
outlines the type of organisation PathWest seeks  
to be and the key steps and strategies needed to 
achieve that. 

At the heart of the Plan are our new Purpose, Vision 
and Values (outlined on page 8), as well as six key 
pillars or themes centred around community, staff, 
services, governance, research and teaching and  
the environment which will be the focus for the next 
five years.

Development of the Plan commenced in December 
2020, with extensive consultation and engagement 
conducted with key internal and external stakeholders 
through the first half of 2021. The Plan was officially 
launched in October 2021 by the Board, Executive, then 

Minister for Health Roger Cook MLA and Director 
General of Health Dr David Russell-Weisz.  

The Board and Executive are working together to bring 
the goals outlined in the Plan to fruition, ensuring 
PathWest can continue to deliver world class pathology 
and forensic services and flourish as an organisation.

Protect  
our  

environment

Excel in research, 
innovation and 

teaching

Deliver world class 
pathology and 

forensic services

Place customers  
and communities 

at the heart of  
what we do

Maintain  
robust governance  

and financial 
sustainability

Engage, develop  
and inspire our 

people

We exist for the 
communities and citizens 
of Western Australia. We 
are here to serve and look 
after them. Our success is 
measured in their gain.

Our staff are our biggest 
asset. Without their 
knowledge, skills and valued 
contributions we cannot 
succeed. Our collective 
commitment to develop and 
excel is a fundamental 
element of who we are. 

The effective and safe 
management of key 
resources is critical.  
We have a duty to provide a 
safe environment and highly 
functioning organisation 
delivering key public services. 

We are defined by the 
quality of the services 
we provide. They are 
critical State-wide 
services and we have  
a passion for and 
responsibility to pursue 
and deliver excellence.

Our staff have the  
skills to create new 
boundaries, and 
advance knowledge  
and learning. We seek 
to embrace and enable 
our role in this goal.

We care for and respect our 
planet. We recognise the need 
to address the impact our 
activities have on its health 
and future. Doing our part to 
look after our environment is a 
fundamental part of caring for 
our communities. 
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Our Executive (Senior Officers)
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

Executive Director Corporate Services

Executive Director Operations

Mr. Joe Boyle
1 July 2021 – 26 November 2021

Mr. Adrian Bautista
27 November 2021 – 30 June 2022

Mr. Adrian Bautista
1 July 2021 – 26 November 2021

Mr. Eric Siah  
and 
Ms. Elaine Mah (Acting)
29 November 2021 – 30 June 2022

Ms. Leesa Ivey  
and 
Mr. David Miotti
1 July 2021 – 15 December 2021

Ms. Analiese Sidhu (Acting)
1 July 2021 – 30 June 2022

Mr. Paul Schneider
31 July 2021 – 30 June 2022

Farewell Joe Boyle
In November 2021, PathWest bid farewell to 
its inaugural Chief Executive, Mr Joe Boyle 
as he returned to Scotland after three years 
with the organisation. 

Joe joined PathWest in 2018 when it was 
established as an independent HSP. He led 
and developed the organisation into a 
stable, innovative and forward-thinking 
pathology service. Over Joe’s three-year 
tenure he was responsible for several key 
achievements including:

• developing the key corporate and 
governance processes for the new HSP.

• implementing the new Laboratory 
Information System.

• managing PathWest’s crucial contribution 
to the State’s response to the COVID-19 
pandemic.

• developing PathWest’s future focused 
strategic plan.

“I certainly leave with a much greater 
appreciation of the critical role 
pathology and forensic services play and 
the impact they have on communities 
and society at large,” Joe said.

Chief Pathologist

Manager, Office of the Chief Executive

Prof. Miles Beaman
1 July 2021 - 30 June 2022

Ms. Nicola Chisholm
1 July 2021 – 30 June 2022
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Our Services
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REQUESTS
 More than 3.6 million 
requests by clinicians

SPECIMEN COLLECTION
 25 metropolitan collection centres
 More than 650,000 specimens 
collected in the metropolitan area

 51 regional collection centres

LABORATORY
 9 metropolitan
 18 regional

ANALYSIS
 Performing almost 13 million tests 
per year

COURIER 
NETWORK
 15 vehicle fleet
 1 million kms per year

REGISTRATION
 All samples taken are 
registered in the 
laboratory information 
system once collected

INTERPRETATION 
AND REPORTING
 More than 130 
Consultant Pathologies 
to interpret and report on 
results

RESULTS
 Results delivered to 
doctors throughout  
WA and interstate

 Uploaded to  
My Health Record

PATHWEST

Pathology cycle at a glance

PATHOLOGY 
REQUEST

PATHOLOGY 
RESULTS

PATHWEST

  MICROBIOLOGY
    IMMUNOLOGY

   ANATOMICAL
   PATHOLOGY

  FORENSIC
  PATHOLOGY

BIOCHEMISTRY

GENOMICS 

HAEMATOLOGY

PATHOLOGY 
RESULTS

PATIENT

SUPPORTING: 
 Police and Justice     Teaching and Training    Research and innovation 

PATHWEST
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Our service in numbers

233,664
CALLS TO 13 PATH

3,066
POSTMORTEM CT SCANS 
COMPLETED

52 YEARS
LONGEST SERVING STAFF MEMBER

931,851
COVID-19 TESTS
PERFORMED

TRANSPLANTS FROM  
DECEASED DONORS

23

KIDNEY

58 WA donor / WA recipient

28 Imported donor / WA recipient

23 WA donor organ sent interstate

HEART

14 WA donor / WA recipient

5 Imported donor / WA recipient

2 WA donor organ sent interstate

PANCREAS

1 WA donor / WA recipient

2 Imported donor / WA recipient

5 WA donor organ sent interstate

LUNG

17 WA donor / WA recipient

2 Imported donor / WA recipient

3 WA donor organ sent interstate

LIVER

21 WA donor / WA recipient

1 Imported donor / WA recipient

9 WA donor organ sent interstate

0-10 years  45%

10-20 years 35%

20-30 years 14%

30-40 years 4%
40+ years 2%

STAFF SERVICE PROFILE

 

27,845 
CRIME SCENE EXHIBITS
ANALYSED

More than

12.8 million
LABORATORY TESTS 

PERFORMED

56,500 
HOURS TRAINING 

FUTURE WORKFORCE

3,187 
POST MORTEM  

EXAMINATIONS 

KIDNEY TRANSPLANTS 
FROM LIVING DONORS
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Year in review
Anatomical Pathology 

Key 2021/22 highlights:
• Demand for comprehensive genetic profiling using state-of-the-art next 

generation sequencing technology continued to increase, with the service 
extended to include patients with a broader range of cancers, including 
mesothelioma, gynaecological, urothelial prostate, breast and upper GI cancers. 
All patient results continue to be discussed at Molecular Tumour Board 
meetings led by the AP molecular staff and attended by scientists and 
clinicians. 

• The Community Health and Hospital Program (CHHP) continued with cancer 
patients now benefiting from precision medicine – read more about the CHHP 
on page 72. 

• The installation of a diamond blade, laser-guided bone saw to the cut-up room. 
The saw allows selection of bone blocks of appropriate thickness for more rapid 
fixation, decalcification and processing, which contributes to an improved 
turn-around-times (TAT) for these specimens.

• The AP laboratory information system (LIS) team continued working to optimise 
SoftPathDx and Soft Molecular modules of the new LIS, as well as test and 
implement high priority enhancements for added functionality and to improve 
outcomes for patients and clinicians. Five functionality enhancements were 
delivered which improved system functionality and increased reporting 
efficiency resulting in a more robust product.

Using innovative technology, the Anatomical Pathology (AP) discipline provides a comprehensive diagnostic and clinical service in the fields of histopathology, 
cytology, immunohistochemistry, electron microscopy, molecular pathology, non-coronial post-mortem examination and frozen section service.

Over 400 cases 
were analysed and presented at the  
Molecular Tumour Board in 2021/22
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Biochemistry
The Biochemistry discipline performs an extensive range of routine and specialised biochemical tests using high throughput technology combined with  
rapid analysis, to provide fast turnaround times for reporting of major biochemical analytes, crucial for rapid diagnosis and efficient patient management.  

Key 2021/22 highlights:
• Point-of-care testing played an increasingly vital role in clinical patient 

management. As a result of COVID-19, there was a significant increase in 
requests for blood gas analysers, with PathWest Biochemistry rapidly 
mobilising and responding to these requests. Biochemistry staff oversaw staff 
training and competency of users, along with quality assurance of blood gas 
analysers. 

• FSH Biochemistry transitioned two enteric assays (calprotectin and elastase) 
from a manual enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to an automated 
platform (Diasorin Liaison). 

• The Core laboratory introduced the Roche c513, which is used primarily for 
Glycated Haemoglobin testing. This analyser includes blood tube cap piercing 
capability, which in turn allows for improved turnaround times (TAT) and 
minimise work health and safety (WHS) risks for our staff. The laboratory also 
implemented point of care bilirubin reporting for Perth Children’s Hospital (PCH) 
Neonatal Intensive Care Unit based on information from a collaborative clinical 
study.

• Biochemical Genetics completed the workup of the bloodspot steroid panel in 
preparation for newborn screening for congenital adrenal hyperplasia.  

• In conjunction with the Diagnostic Genomics department, work has 
commenced on the introduction of genetic screening for Spinal Muscular 
Atrophy and Severe Combined Immunodeficiency. 

• Pharmacology and Toxicology expanded their testing of oral fluid drugs of 
abuse for the Department of Justice with the new High-Resolution Accurate 
Mass Orbitrap analyser.
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Diagnostic Genomics
The Diagnostic Genomics discipline is at the forefront of precision medicine, offering individualised patient and family management guidance based on the most 
complex medical information: the human genome. The comprehensive range of testing performed at Diagnostic Genomics includes every aspect of heredity at 
molecular and cellular level, from a single gene, to chromosomes, the entire coding genome, and the epigenome controlling gene expression. 

Key 2021/22 highlights:

• Validation of a new, high resolution chromosomal microarray assay targeting 
~700,000 markers genome-wide has enabled the introduction of a single 
workflow with improved processing and cost efficiencies. 

• Collaboration with other disciplines within PathWest were expanded in line with 
continuation or introduction of valuable joint services. In preparation for the WA 
Health Genomics Strategy, Diagnostic Genomics is also working closely with 
Genetic Services of Western Australia and Office of Population Health Genomics.

• Two of the multiple ongoing projects have had outstanding outcomes:

– Mackenzie’s Mission, a national initiative for reproductive carrier screening, 
has managed to test more couples than any other participating site. 

– The Rhesus D non-invasive prenatal testing project has asserted the presence 
of PathWest at the forefront in the field nationally with a testing algorithm 
focusing on safe implementation into practice.
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Forensic Biology
PathWest operates the sole forensic biology laboratory in WA, performing forensic DNA analysis and reporting services to support the  
WAPF and the WA justice system. 

Key 2021/22 highlights:
• Improved turnaround times for property crime cases from four to six weeks 

down to under seven days by introducing several changes:

– Dedicated staff throughout the analytical process, to ensure that property 
crime is prioritised at each stage, including the formation of a dedicated 
Property Crime Reporting Team.

– ICT enhancements to prioritise the tracking of property crime cases.

– Samples with insufficient DNA detected are reported without the 
requirement for further processing.

• Continued joint project with ChemCentre to investigate options for a new 
purpose-built State Forensic Science Centre to house the ChemCentre and the 
Forensic Biology Department. Co-location would offer significant benefits, 
including:

– Greater overall efficiency.

– Increased collaboration between agencies (knowledge sharing and cross 
training; parallel testing capacity; more focused testing)

– Expanded portfolio of services / identify new opportunities

– System risk reduction (improved security of exhibits, staff, buildings and IT 
systems; enhanced business continuity; reduced risk of contamination).

• Celebrated 20 years of the WA DNA database – read more on  
page 71.
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Forensic Pathology
The Forensic Pathology department and State Mortuary facility provide a comprehensive Coronial post-mortem service for WA under the direction 
of the State Coroner. 

Key 2021/22 highlights:

• Increasing demand for our services resulted in the appointment of additional 
staff, including two new forensic pathologists and two new registrars. A further 
Forensic Pathologist has been recruited and is due to commence in late 2022.  
A Forensic Odontologist has also been appointed following the retirement of the 
previous incumbent – read more about Forensic Odontology below.

• The State Mortuary CT scanner has now been operational since April 2019. 
Over the last year 3,066 CT scans were completed with an average of 256 per 
month, providing an excellent adjunct tool assisting pathologists and reducing 
the total number of internal autopsies required.    

• The State Mortuary has taken the COVID-19 pandemic in its stride, having 
dealt with more than 115 COVID-19 cases admitted through the Coronial 
system.  This has been dealt with efficiently and effectively with the 
development of sound procedures within the department.

• The long-awaited State Mortuary refurbishment works commenced in January 
2022, with stage one of the works completed and stage two underway.  These 
works when completed will provide additional theatre floor space, admission 
and clinical work areas, secure storage areas, staff facilities and additional 
cool room space, which will improve overall operational service. The works are 
expected to be completed in May 2023. Read more on page 74.
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Forensic Pathology (cont.)

PathWest welcomes new Odontologist
As a high school student  
Dr Helen Vaughan had her heart 
set on pursuing a career in 
forensic science but was 
successfully persuaded by a 
careers counsellor to pursue 
dentistry instead. 

Her two passions eventually 
aligned when, after many years 
as a clinical dentist, Helen was 
asked to examine human remains 
believed to be a long-term 
missing person.

“The hairs on the back of my 
neck stood up just knowing we 
would be able to let the police know they could inform the family we had 
found their loved one,” Helen said.

From that point forward, Helen was committed to pursuing a career in 
Forensic Odontology, a field she describes as ‘the use of dentistry to 
solve legal problems’. 

Although she admits no two days are the same, her role sees her carry 
out examinations for possible child abuse cases, revisit cold cases, 
develop procedures and reference documentation, lecture students and 
other professionals, and work with law enforcement to assist their 
investigations.

What is Forensic Odontology?
Forensic Odontology is a specialist area of dentistry in Australia and  
has a dedicated training stream within the Royal College of Pathologists 
of Australasia. It has developed as a specialist discipline over the last 
50 years. 

What differentiates a regular dentist from a forensic odontologist is a 
dentist specialises in treating teeth whereas an odontologist studies 
teeth and works as part of a medical examination team.

Most people think of Forensic Odontology being used in human 
identification at the time of a mass disaster. But it has much broader 
purposes including: 

• Identifying a deceased person who is unable to be identified visually  
or by fingerprints. The use of dental records is often the next choice 
(before DNA) since many people have been to the dentist and have a 
dental chart and x-rays which can be used for comparison. 

• Examination and assessment of potential bitemark injuries for both 
living and deceased for example child protection cases and sexual 
assault cases.

• Examination and assessment of orofacial injuries.

• Determining the estimated age of a person when they died.

• Cases involving malpractice and fraud allegations.
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Haematology
The Haematology discipline provides a multitude of routine and specialised testing services to aid in the diagnosis and treatment of a wide variety of 
blood disorders as well as provide therapeutic products including blood, plasma, platelets, clotting factors and bone marrow.

Key 2021/22 highlights:
• Installation of the Biorad transfusion analysers in the TMU to standardise 

transfusion testing across PathWest. Automation of the red cell antibody titres 
prior to allogeneic bone marrow transplant, solid organ transplant and for 
alloimmunised obstetric patients will improve workflow and provide consistent 
and timely results for clinicians. 

• An increased number of immunocompromised patients throughout WA were 
able to access a home-based haematology service thanks to PathWest’s 
Transfusion Medicine team who worked with treating clinicians to enable 
patients to self-administer subcutaneous (sclg) immunoglobulin injection at 
home, rather than in the hospital.  

Biorad
These innovative analysers will 
perform blood grouping, antibody 
screening, antibody identification and 
titres. Armadale, Rockingham and 
Bunbury labs are also in line to receive 
these analysers while smaller analyser 
platforms will be rolled out to the 
remaining regional labs. These sites 
will benefit from automatic reading and 
transmission of transfusion testing 
results, particularly given the limited 
automation available at many sites.

In addition to standardising technology 
across the organisation, the move to 
Bio-Rad technology allows digital 
capture and access of results from 
these remote areas via the linked 
software. This makes centralised 
laboratory support of transfusion 
testing easier and more timely.
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Haematology (cont.)

• An Inventory Management position for the Transfusion Medicine Unit (TMU) 
commenced in the final quarter of 2021/22. This role is responsible for 
co-ordinating the movement of blood products throughout the State, with the 
intent of minimising wastage of fresh blood products. This helps avoid loss of 
a scarce resource that has been further limited by the COVID-19 pandemic. In 
the brief period this work has been active there has been significant 
reductions in red blood cell product wastage across the system. 

• The Haematology Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) project went live in 
2022, performing DNA sequencing in the investigation of myeloid 
malignancies. The 30 gene panel will aid in the diagnosis, prognostication, 
monitoring and treatment guidance in myeloid disorders for patients 
Statewide. There is ongoing work to expand this service, including 
development and testing of a new panel for the sequencing of circulating 
lymphoma. A significant funding grant was obtained from the Leukaemia 
Foundation to assist with this.

• PathWest Coagulation laboratory played an integral role in identifying Vaccine 
Induced Thrombocytopenia (VITT) that emerged during the COVID-19 
pandemic. The FSH Coagulation laboratory mobilised quickly to  
provide testing for Platelet Factor 4 antibodies for 
the State and provided a point of contact for 
clinicians and leading scientists Australia wide.  
As the primary testing site for WA, the FSH 
Coagulation laboratory made a significant 
contribution to VITT testing and co-authored a 
scientific publication detailing the Australian 
experience. 

• The ever-expanding Bone Marrow Transplant Unit (BMTU) commenced 
commercial partnerships with Novartis and Kite/Gilead for separate 
autologous Chimeric Antigen Receptor T (CAR-T) therapy programs for the 
treatment of lymphoma. As well as hosting three clinical trials allowing 
treatment of patients with emerging cell therapy products otherwise 
unavailable in Australia, the BMTU laboratory overcame significant logistical 
challenges for processing of stem cell products to minimise the risk of 
COVID-19 to transplant patients.
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Immunology
The Immunology discipline provides a range of services that assist in the diagnosis, monitoring and treatment of immunological disorders and  
conditions relating to autoimmunity, allergy, immunodeficiency, transplantation and Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV).     

Key 2021/22 highlights:

• The ‘Strength to Give’ project that the FSH Immunology Department was 
contracted to perform for the Australian Bone Marrow Donor Registry (ABMDR) 
was successfully completed in August 2021. 

•  FSH Immunology worked with external IT partner, BizData, to improve the 
Microsoft Azure Cloud analysis of HLA typing by Next and Third Generation 
Sequencing to improve outcomes in transplantation. BizData has since 
been named as a Microsoft Partner of the Year finalist for Healthcare and  
Life Sciences for this work.

•  QEII Immunology upgraded both the automated slide processor (Beeline) and 
protein analyser (Optilite) and started the tender for a new flow cytometer. 
Procurement of a Phadia 2500 for allergy and autoantibody testing is 
progressing

•  QEII Immunology continued its review, research and development into 
autoimmune (including neuroimmunology) and immune function  
assays with laboratory staff presenting updates and assay reviews  
at staff development meetings.
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Microbiology 
The Microbiology discipline offers a comprehensive range of specialised services for the detection of all major disease-causing micro-organisms 
including bacteria, fungi, viruses, protozoa and helminths (worms).

Key 2021/22 highlights:
• Microbiology at FSH and QEII have worked together to meet the demand for 

COVID -19 testing for both COVID-19 clinics and hospitals, including rapid 
testing when clinically indicated. 

• A new 24/7 rapid respiratory testing service was provided at Royal Perth 
Hospital (RPH) to meet clinical and bed management requirements. 

• An Enteric Working group for the discipline was set up to develop new methods 
of molecular detection of enteric pathogens – providing improved turnaround 
times to facilitate clinical decision making and support infection prevention and 
management of enteric infections, including those of public health importance. 

• The 24-hour laboratory at FSH has provided rapid molecular detection of blood 
borne viruses to support the transplant program. 

• The Microbiology Media Manufacturing Unit, which has 129 clients, has 
increased the number of units produced from 2.30 to 2.67 million in a year, 
including a significant increase in viral transport media to support the COVID-19 
response. 

• The microbial genomics and surveillance laboratory worked at full capacity for 
most of the year, providing COVID-19 sequencing, as well as sequencing for 
Japanese encephalitis virus and arbovirus.

• Following on from the co-location of the QEII Enteric Reference Laboratory with 
Bacteriology, PathWest has now transitioned from conventional enteric culture 
methods to the latest molecular testing methods (Enteric polymerase chain 
reaction (PCR)) and this required a considerable amount of work to build the 
new Enteric PCR tests in SOFT. 

• Testing of donor faeces for the Lifeblood Faecal Microbiome Transplant Project 
(FMT) has also transitioned to Enteric PCR. The tests performed at QEII for the 
FMT donors are required to be TGA licensed. The laboratory was audited in 
early 2022 by TGA for this addition to scope, which will be finalised by the end 
of 2022.

• The 24/7 Bacteriology Laboratory at QEII launched in June in its initial pilot 
stage. This 24/7 service will improve workflows to reduce TATs for metropolitan 
and regional microbiology specimens.   
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Pre-Analytical Services 
Pre-Analytical Services include specimen collection, reception and processing, and transportation and is integral to Statewide pathology operations.

Key 2021/22 highlights:
Pre-Analytical Services continued to provide a significant contribution to the 
COVID-19 response. Other notable achievements include:  

•  Opening a new patient collection centre in Ellenbrook – servicing the  
north-east corridor of the metropolitan area.

•  Established a dedicated cannulation and phlebotomy service for acute care 
wards at RPH including the Acute Medical Unit, Ward 3H and Emergency 
Department.

•  Relocated specimen collection services from the collection centre in J Block to 
the newly refurbished collection area in E block, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital 
(SCGH).

•  An expansion of transport services to include a twice daily Bunbury to QEII 
courier run to facilitate a better service to our regional customers.

•  Implemented additional COVID-19 courier runs to support frequent collections 
from COVID-19 Clinics, ensuring COVID-19 TAT Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI) are met.

•  Ongoing training and assessment activities to support internal and external 
client needs, including venepuncture, Australian Standard (AS) 4308 compliant 
urine drug screening, cannulation, infection control procedures, COVID-19 swab 
collection and personal protective equipment training.

•  Commenced planning to relocate the Kalgoorlie Patient Collection Centre  
to a better location and improve patient amenity. 
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Regional Support Services
PathWest provide services to communities all over WA, from Kununurra in the north to Esperance in the south and communities in between. 

Key 2021/22 highlights:

• Working closely with QEII Microbiology, a deployable PCR laboratory 
assisted the Broome team to support COVID-19 testing in the Kimberley. 
This collaboration, and the installation of additional GeneXperts in 
Kununurra and Derby, enabled rapid resulting for the clinicians to 
manage the COVID-19 surge in these remote and often vulnerable 
communities.

• Planning for rollout of transfusion automation to Armadale, Rockingham 
and Bunbury to enable these high throughput regional centres to  
provide increased service to clinicians and assist in managing scientist 
workload.

• Progressed the plan to install BioFire analysers in Broome, Bunbury  
and Geraldton. Once installed BioFire will provide rapid molecular 
identification of respiratory pathogens (Bunbury) and positive blood 
culture pathogen identification (Broome, Geraldton) to provide clinicians 
with increased service, improving patient outcomes and minimising 
hospital stays, with a view to adding further types of rapid testing in the 
future, including cerebrospinal fluid pathogen detection.

• PathWest Newman relocated to newly built facilities in the  
regional hospital.
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Teaching and training
PathWest has a long history of providing teaching and training to the future 
scientific and medical workforce and prides itself on being a training organisation 
of choice – teaching and training is viewed as an investment in its future. 

PathWest’s investment in teaching and training is integral to the development of 
future staff and provides an opportunity to apply new thinking and innovation to the 
organisation through a range of training programs designed to ensure the highest 
level of skills, competence and knowledge.

Pathology Registrar training
Through its registrar training program PathWest ensures those pursuing a career in 
pathology are trained to the highest level. This advanced training program leads to 
certification as a qualified pathologist and membership as a Fellow of the Royal 
College of Pathologists Australasia (RCPA).

Registrars are provided five years apprenticeship style training from highly 
experienced consultants, preparing them for a career in their chosen discipline. 

51 Registrars were part of the 2021/22 pathology registrar training program.

Discipline 2021/22

Anatomical Pathology 27

Biochemistry  3 Diagnostic Genomics  1

Forensic Pathology  2

Haematology  12

Immunology  1

Microbiology  5

Total 51
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Registrars from Diagnostic Genomics 
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Professional placements
Each year PathWest supports Australian Institute of Clinical and Medical Scientists 
(AIMS) accredited university programs with the provision of professional placements 
within a laboratory or pre-analytical/specimen collection setting. Hosting students 
from Curtin University, UWA and Murdoch University in a variety of areas,  
participating in this initiative ensures a highly skilled pool of graduates will be 
available for future employment opportunities at PathWest. The organisation benefits 
by increasing its exposure to potential employees and by establishing professional 
relationships with the institutions that educate its future workforce.

Discipline placements – six weeks

Haematology Microbiology Biochemistry Anatomical Pathology Immunology Regional Total

Curtin 14 15 12 8 12 18 98

UWA 5 5 4 6  6 31

Murdoch 10 5 8 4   31

Total 29 25 24 18 12 24 160

 
Pre-analytical placements (Curtin University only)

 Sub-discipline Number of 
students

Length of 
placement

 Phlebotomy 60 2 weeks

 Central Specimen Reception Area 35 4 weeks
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Regional Scholarship Program
In line with PathWest’s strategic pillar Excelling in research, innovation and 

teaching, and to encourage employment opportunities in regional Western 

Australia, PathWest launched its inaugural Regional Scholarship Program in 2021. 

The scholarship provides financial support to third and fourth-year laboratory 

medicine students and facilitates placements in regional laboratories.   

By providing up to $2,000 to subsidise travel and accommodation costs, the 
scholarship allows successful applicants to undertake a six-week placement in a 
regional laboratory and aims to highlight the benefits and opportunities available, 
and how rewarding a career in a regional laboratory can be. 

In 2021/22, seven Curtin students were awarded scholarships to attend  
laboratory placements in Broome, Kalgoorlie, Geraldton, Albany, Karratha and 
Narrogin.   

From Curtin to Cable Beach 
Kelly Zaccheus, who was awarded a scholarship for her placement in 
the Broome laboratory for six weeks in January 2022, described her 
experience as rewarding and would recommend it to all students.

“The scholarship program was beyond what I expected. 
The staff in Broome were extremely welcoming and were 
keen to teach me, which made me feel comfortable.  
My experience was hands-on, making me feel more 
confident in the lab. 

The staff constantly took time out of their day to teach me, 
and they would never hesitate to answer my questions and 
show me the processes even when it was busy. It was an 
amazing experience and I would highly recommend it to 
future students.”

Whilst juggling studies, Kelly has also been offered employment in 
CSRA and COVID-19 registrations at Fiona Stanley Hospital.
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Certificate III in Pathology Collection
PathWest has been delivering an accredited phlebotomy training program to the 
public for almost 25 years through an affiliation with North Metropolitan Health 
Service’s (NMHS) Registered Training Organisation. 

The nationally recognised and accredited HLT37215 Certificate III in Pathology 
Collection (Phlebotomy Course) program ensures graduates are provided the 
relevant knowledge, skills and practical experience to operate effectively as a 
specimen collector and phlebotomist within a health care setting.

In 2021/22, 35 students graduated from the course.

Aboriginal scholarships 
PathWest is committed to increasing Aboriginal employment within its workforce, 
particularly in frontline services. 

The PathWest Aboriginal Scholarship Program offers up to four scholarships 
annually, allowing successful applicants to complete the six-week Certificate III in 
Pathology Collection course. All course fees and associated costs (including 
workbooks, textbooks and vaccinations) are included in the scholarship program. 

PathWest awarded three scholarships in 2021/22, with all graduates offered a 
three-month fixed term contract at PathWest. In total, 18 scholarships have been 
awarded since 2016, and eight graduates remain valued PathWest employees.

Aboriginal cadetships
PathWest offers Aboriginal university students the opportunity to gain paid work 
experience while completing an undergraduate degree. Through the WA Health 
Aboriginal Cadetship Program, PathWest provides a 12-month placement in a team 
aligned with the student’s area of study.

The Program aims to increase the number of Aboriginal employees within 
PathWest’s workforce and enable cadets to develop their skills and abilities, 
establish personal and professional support networks – all while laying foundations 
for a career in the WA public health sector.

Now in its third year at PathWest, cadets are participating in work experience in 
Forensic Pathology, Microbiology and Diagnostic Genomics. 

Increasing Aboriginal participation is a key priority for PathWest – helping to build 
a diverse workforce that’s representative of the community served. 

Forensic training
PathWest has long-standing partnerships with WAPF, the Office of the Director of 
Public Prosecutions, universities and other government agencies through training 
provided by our forensic biology and pathology divisions.

Forensic Biology training
In 2021/22, formal teaching and training was provided to WAPF staff to ensure they 
have knowledge about the latest forensic techniques and theory.

Topics included an overview of forensic biology, DNA for the investigation of sexual 
assaults, introduction to DNA and forensic DNA profiling, the use of forensic DNA 
profiling for disaster victim identification, exhibit sampling and evidence recovery, 
contamination, DNA transfer, mixed DNA profiles and limitations.

Lectures relevant to Forensic Biology and DNA profiling were also provided to the 
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions, the Criminal Lawyers Association and 
several universities. Forensic Biology staff also presented the results of the 
Department’s research activities at the Inaugural Western Australian Forensic 
Science Forum in October 2021.

Forensic Pathology training
In 2021/22, formal teaching and training was provided to WAPF staff to ensure they 
have knowledge about the latest forensic techniques and theory.

Topics include an overview of forensic pathology, coronial documentation and 
procedure, mortuary operational matters, crime scene, hidden homicide and cold 
case review including exhibit sampling and evidence recovery. 

Lectures on related topics were also provided to the Office of the Director of Public 
Prosecutions, specialist groups including Fire and Emergency Services and 
Australian Defence Force and several universities. 
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Research
Research underpins much of the success of evidence-based pathology practice, 
with many research breakthroughs enabling earlier diagnosis, more effective 
treatments and better health outcomes for patients.

PathWest’s involvement in research activities provides opportunities for 
collaborations - linking clinicians from HSPs, international, interstate students and 
academics with pathologists and scientists across all our disciplines.

Throughout 2021/22, an extensive volume of research was undertaken by 
PathWest, both as primary and secondary researchers, as well as supporting 
multiple hospital research projects with the provision of diagnostic information.

During 2021/22, the Research Governance Unit, led by the Research Governance 
Coordinator and Chief Pathologist:

• Disseminated grant and educational opportunities and research information 
- aiding in collating grant applications, including Executive letters of support.

• Assisted many PathWest researchers and collaborators to help meet their 
requirements for research in WA Health and the WA Health IT Platform Research 
Governance Service (RGS).

• Facilitated research collaborations – linking physicians, surgeons from WA Health 
HSPs, interstate and local university students and interstate academics with 
Anatomical Pathologists, Clinical Microbiologists, Clinical Biochemists, Clinical 
Immunologists and Clinical Haematologists.

• Represented PathWest at HSP and Department of Health research meetings and 
the WA Health Translation Network proposed Statewide biobank meetings.

• Provided input into the development of relevant agreements for the WA health 
system. 

• Liaised with the Department of Health, Office of Medical Research and Innovation 
and Department of Health Data Linkage to assist with the development of an 
Information Asset for the PathWest sponsored Western Australian COVID-19 
Immunity Collaborative (WACIC) Biobank.

644 
ACTIVE CLINICAL RESEARCH PROJECTS 

195 
PATHWEST 
PROJECTS 
IN RGS 

24 
PATHWEST 
RESEARCH 
PROJECTS 
SUBMITTED 
FOR REVIEW

Research in numbers
DURING 2021/22. PATHWEST STAFF 
WERE INVOLVED IN MORE THAN:

PATHWEST HAS:
Involvement in 

22 
COVID-19 
RESEARCH 
PROJECTS
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Research snapshot

Adrenal Vein Outcomes Study 

FSH Biochemistry is carrying out a retrospective study to review and optimise 
the adrenal vein sampling (AVS) service in WA.  

The study objective is to determine the degree to which lateralisation of 
aldosterone secretion in patients with Primary Aldosteronism (PA) predicts 
clinical and biochemical outcomes following adrenalectomy.  The results of the 
study will assist local practice guidelines.  Complete, partial or absent clinical 
and biochemical success post-adrenalectomy will be assessed using the PA 
Surgical Outcome criteria.  

The secondary aim of the study is to determine lateralisation rates in a sub-set 
of PA patients with an aldosterone to renin ratio (ARR) between 50 and 69 at 
initial diagnosis compared with patients with an ARR of 70 and above.  Patients 
who attended Royal Perth Hospital for AVS between September 2017 and 
September 2020 have been selected to participate in this study.  

Micro-elastography probe for improved intraoperative 
assessment of tumour margins in breast cancer: a pilot study

Breast cancer changes the stiffness of breast tissue. Micro-elastography (ME) is 
a new technique which can be used to detect small areas of cancer by creating 
three dimensional images of tissue stiffness. 

A laboratory-based bench-top ME device has been used to show that ME can 
detect tumour in excised breast tissue. The MEprobe, a smaller handheld 
micro-elastography device, has been designed to scan the breast cavity during 
surgery immediately after tumour removal to see if any cancer has been left 
behind in the breast tissue. 

It is hoped the study will show that micro-elastography incorporated into the 
MEprobe can create high quality images that can be used during breast surgery 
to identify residual breast cancer.

This study will involve 140 female breast cancer patients undergoing breast 
surgery, with the objective to: 

• Develop a protocol for breast cancer surgeons to use a custom-design 
handheld micro-elastography probe (MEprobe) to assess regions of the breast 
cavity for the microscopic presence of cancer (i.e., residual tumour) during 
breast cancer surgery.

• Validate that images acquired by the MEprobe can be used to show structural 
differences between cancerous and non-cancerous tissue within the breast 
cavity during breast-conserving surgery. 

• Evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of the handheld probe.

Research snapshot

Nicola Sawyer Damon Bell
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Research snapshotResearch snapshot

A feasibility study of optical elastography for the differentiation 
of cancerous and non-cancerous ex vivo human breast tissue

Optical elastography describes a group of imaging techniques that can be used 
to generate images showing the mechanical properties of human breast tissue, 
for example stiffness or stress, of the tissue. 

Optical elastography mimics the surgeon’s sense of touch, but at a much higher 
resolution. Optical elastography can be performed using a range of underlying 
imaging techniques, including either optical coherence tomography (OCT) or 
non-OCT based techniques.  

Removing the OCT component of elastography will allow for the potential 
development of wireless handheld probes for use during surgery. If shown to be 
a feasible technique for cancer detection, non-OCT based elastography may 
prove to be a low-cost alternative to OCT-based elastography.

This study will involve 340 female breast cancer patients undergoing breast 
surgery, with the objective to: 

• Perform OCT based optical elastography on a wide range of breast tissue 
architectures to generate machine learning algorithms for the detection of 
cancerous tissue which will be evaluated against the gold standard, histology. 

• Evaluate the feasibility of one of three non-OCT based optical palpation 
techniques in detecting cancer in mastectomy specimens. 

• Accuracy study of a selected non-OCT based optical elastography  
technique for cancer detection in excised breast specimens. 

• Test and validate prototype handheld probes. 
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Research snapshot

Molecular Epidemiology of Penicillin-Susceptible 
Staphylococcus aureus Bacteraemia in Australia and 
Reliability of Diagnostic Phenotypic Susceptibility Methods  
to Detect Penicillin Susceptibility
Globally antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is one of the most significant challenges 
that healthcare services face. AMR occurs when a microorganism develops 
resistance to an antimicrobial that was previously an effective treatment. As a 
result, infections caused by the resistant organism may need to be treated with 
other antimicrobials, which may have more severe side effects, be more 
expensive or take longer to work.

Staphylococcus aureus is notorious for its ability to become resistant to 
antibiotics and infections caused by antibiotic-resistant strains of S. aureus have 
reached epidemic proportions globally. However, S. aureus penicillin 
susceptibility may be in a period of renaissance. Despite the use of non-
penicillin beta-lactams, the proportion of S. aureus invasive infections reported 
as penicillin susceptible has increased worldwide. Despite its re-emergence, 
patients with serious penicillin susceptible S. aureus (PSSA) infections are  
rarely treated with penicillin primarily due to concerns regarding the accuracy  
of existing microbiology susceptibility testing methods in detecting penicillinase-
producing strains. In S. aureus, penicillinase is typically encoded by the blaZ 
gene.

To determine the population structure of PSSA causing bacteraemia in Australia 
FSH Microbiology recently performed whole genome sequencing on 470  
S. aureus classified as PSSA by the Vitek® 2 automicrobic system that had been 
reported in the 2020 Australian Group on Antimicrobial Resistance S. aureus 
bacteraemia surveillance program. Furthermore, FSH Microbiology evaluated the 
reliability of different susceptibility methods to detect penicillin resistance on 
blaZ-positive S. aureus that had been classified as penicillin susceptible by the 
Vitek® 2.

FSH Microbiology identified 22 different S. aureus lineages. The blaZ gene was 
detected in 45 isolates and multiple S. aureus lineages were identified among 
the blaZ-positive isolates. The broth microdilution, Etest® and cefinase test 
performed poorly; however, when the appearance of the zone edge was 
considered, disc diffusion detected 100% of blaZ-positive PSSA. 

PSSA bacteraemia in Australia is caused by multiple clones and approximately 
10 per cent of S. aureus classified as PSSA by the Vitek® 2 harbour blaZ. 
Consequently, confirmation of Vitek® 2 PSSA should be performed using an 
alternative method such as disc diffusion with careful interpretation of the  
zone edge.

.
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Successful applicants
Daniel White
Medical Scientist - Biochemistry

Utilising Phosphatidylethanol (PEth) at patient triage will provide superior rate of 
detection of alcohol-induced injury than direct alcohol measurements alone.

Detecting dangerous alcohol consumption can be quite difficult because current 
laboratory testing methods can only detect heavy drinking in the past 12-18 or 
so hours, or after damage has already been inflicted on the body from alcohol 
exposure.  Clinicians also rely on patient testimony to establish the amount and 
duration of alcohol consumption, which can be unreliable.  In the Emergency 
Department in particular, people whose injuries could be alcohol-related can go 
undetected if they are unconscious, unwilling to admit their consumption or 
laboratory testing doesn’t accurately reflect the extent of alcohol consumption.  
Patterns of alcohol-related admissions from the same patients can also be 
missed, especially when current laboratory tests do not detect heavy recent 
alcohol consumption, or if clinical notes are not recorded accurately.

Daniel and his team have developed a test for a new marker of alcohol 
consumption, PEth, which is produced only when alcohol is present in the blood 
and can remain in the blood for several weeks.  They are interested in 
investigating how this marker performs against commonly used laboratory tests 
for alcohol consumption, and whether using this test at the Emergency 
Department will improve patient care.

Terence Lee
Senior Bioinformatics Analyst - Microbiology

Read Fish Adaptive Sequencing

Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) has revolutionised microbial typing, providing 
a method to replace a range of specialised molecular and traditional approaches. 

Metagenomics is an advanced method of WGS utilising direct samples, 
therefore removing the need to further isolate individual species, saving time 
and increasing the scope of study to all DNA/Ribonucleic Acid (RNA) present in 
the sample. The main metagenomics challenge is sifting through large amounts 
of sequencing data. Previous sequencers processed DNA strands in parallel and 
is a static process with no ability to control which DNA strand gets sequenced. 
With the introduction of sequencers developed by Oxford Nanopore Technology 
(ONT), DNA strands are sequentially processed through software controllable 
pores to achieve long sequencing reads. Key software utilities, “Read Until” and 
“ReadFish” developed by ONT and the Looselab respectively, enables pore-
specific sequencing termination termed “Adaptive sequencing” to dynamically 
control DNA sequencing in real-time by enriching or depleting specific 
sequences. Adaptive sequencing offers the ability to increase the signal to noise 
ratio when the DNA of interest constitutes only a small proportion of the 
extracted DNA in a sample. This project aims to optimise the adaptive 
sequencing process and bolster sequencing services provided by PathWest with 
the addition of this cost and time saving method.

The future of research at PathWest – Early Career Research Awards
During 2021/22 applications were sought for early career (first to fifth year) staff 
who, under the supervision of senior Departmental staff, were participating in a 
defined project – likely to be completed within one to two years.

Successful applicants received $10,000 for consumables or staff, and are required 
to deliver an annual report, including any publications arising.
An investment in research is seen as an investment in the future of PathWest. 
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Samuel Neeling 
Medical Scientist - Immunology

In-vitro measurement of the neutralising effect of anti-GMCSF or anti-IFN-y 
antibodies on STAT phosphorylation using patient serum and donor peripheral 
blood mononuclear cells.

Anti-cytokine antibodies to interferon gamma and granulocyte macrophage – 
colony stimulating factor have been identified in patients with an increased 
likelihood of certain opportunistic infections.  These antibodies may bind to the 
target cytokine and neutralise the cell messaging capability via the signal 
transducer and activator of transcription pathway. Clinical Immunology at 
PathWest QEII currently offers a method for determining the neutralising effect 
of these patient antibodies on phosphorylated STAT expression, however the 
patient is required to present to QEII Medical Centre at a pre-determined time to 
provide a freshly collected whole blood sample for testing.  As a fresh sample is 
required, samples cannot be sent from regional areas or interstate in a suitable 
period. 

Sam and his team are in the process of preparing an assay to assess the effect 
of antibodies in the patient serum on the STAT expression of healthy volunteer 
donor cells.  This would mean that serum alone could be sent to the testing 
laboratory as per current practice for other serum-based assays.

Dr Francis Yap 
Registrar – Anatomical Pathology

HER2 testing in endometrial serous carcinoma: A comparison of methodologies 
in an Australian Setting.

The significance of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2, ERBB2) 
amplification and HER2 protein overexpression has been well established in the 
pathogenesis and targeted therapy of breast cancer and more recently in gastric 
and gastroesophageal junction carcinomas.  

There has been increasing interest in assessing other tumour types for HER2 
overexpression, including endometrial serous carcinoma. HER2 has been shown 
to be a prognostic variable in endometrial serous carcinoma, both in a study by 
Shinichi Togami and in multi-institutional cohort studies. Moreover, HER2 
amplification is an effective therapeutic target in endometrial serous carcinoma. 
In 2019, The National Comprehensive Cancer Network stated that the preferred 
chemotherapy regimen for HER2 positive advanced stage III/IV endometrial 
serous carcinoma includes trastuzumab which is one such antiHer2 agent.

Optimal testing methods and cut off levels for interpretation of these tests for 
HER2 status in endometrial high-grade serous carcinoma are not yet well 
established.  There is currently no consensus whether the HER2 status should be 
determined using the gastrointestinal (GIT) or breast protocol for 
immunohistochemistry (IHC) interpretation, dual in situ hybridisation (DISH) 
interpretation using DISH DNA probes, HER-2 fluorescence in situ hybridisation 
(FISH) or next generation sequencing (NGS) which is a molecular technique 
examining the tumour’s genetic material.

Francis and his team aim to compare different methods of HER2 testing on 30 
patients with high grade endometrial serous carcinoma, using the NGS results 
as the gold standard. The tissue samples will be paraffin embedded blocks. Each 
case will undergo IHC using the breast and GI protocol and scoring systems; 
DISH, FISH, and a subset will undergo molecular testing using next generation.

The aim of the study is to use the results to choose and validate their HER2 test 
method, and create an algorithm for the assessment of HER2 IHC, DISH and or 
FISH interpretation to allow identification of cases that need the more expensive 
NGS tests to elucidate their true HER2 status. This will allow judicious use of 
the more expensive testing.

This study will also provide the suitable documentation that can be used to 
demonstrate that the new in house in-vitro diagnostic (IVD) test complies with 
applicable provision of the National Pathology Accreditation Advisory Council 
(NPAAC) standards.

The future of research at PathWest – Early Career Research Awards
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Philip Asquith 
Medical Scientist in Charge – Diagnostic Genomics

Introduction of non-invasive fetal Rhesus D (RhD) genotyping in  
Western Australia. 

Maternal blood group rhesus D alloimmunisation and transfer of anti-D 
antibodies to a D positive fetus is a primary cause of severe haemolytic  
disease of the fetus and newborn. Following current guidelines, anti-D 
prophylaxis is currently offered to all RhD negative women.  

Up to 40 per cent of RhD negative women have a RhD negative fetus, which 
incurs both unnecessary cost and exposure to anti-rhesus D immunoglobulin  
(a human plasma derived product). 

RhD genotyping by non-invasive prenatal testing has been validated in the UK 
and Europe to screen the pregnancies of RhD negative women and to target the 
administration of RAADP.

The purpose of this project is to develop a high throughput PCR assay to 
genotype RhD quickly and cost-effectively from cell free fetal DNA, extracted 
from maternal blood samples, to determine fetal RHD status and quantify fetal 
fraction levels in those samples.

This project is being conducted with the Maternal Fetal Medicine Department at 
King Edward Memorial Hospital. 

Stephanie Lam 
Consultant Pathologist - Haematology

Next Generation Blood-testing for ‘Double Hit’ Myeloma.

Myeloma genetic testing is generally performed on bone marrow at diagnosis 
and at relapse. Of relevance to management, is identification of patients with 
secondary genomic defects including acquired gains of 1q (CKS1B; amp 1q) or 
17p deletion (del(17p)) with TP53 inactivation. These high-risk double hit patients 
comprise six per cent of myeloma patients and have a poor prognosis. Ideally, 
these patients are identified early so that novel salvage therapies can be 
considered and offered. In this study, Stephanie will evaluate a new flow 
cytometric method to screen circulating plasma cells for these genetic 
aberrations and thereby provide opportunities for risk-adjusted therapy. 

Stephanie hypothesises that blood samples can be used to identify genomic 
defects. The aim is to apply the newly developed imaging flow cytometry 
cytogenomic technique (“Immuno-flowFISH”) to detect gains of 1q and 17p 
deletion in circulating plasma cells identified by their immunophenotype. Paired 
blood and bone marrow samples will be collected from consenting patients with 
suspected or confirmed myeloma undergoing bone marrow biopsy at FSH and 
RPH. Cell populations are labelled with fluorescently conjugated antibodies of 
interest on the cell surface (CD38, CD138 and CD19) and probed with 
fluorophore-conjugated chromosome 1q (CSK1), chromosome 17 enumeration 
(CEP17) and locus specific chromosome 17p FISH probes. Samples are analysed 
by imaging flow cytometry on the AMNIS ImageStreamX markII and data 
analysed with IDEAS software. The relationships between the laboratory and 
conventional interphase FISH results will be explored with conventional 
interphase FISH results as the current “gold standard”. 

Stephanie’s research offers the potential of earlier detection of the “double hit” 
genotype in circulating tumour cells, leading to improved patient care with 
reduced inconvenience and discomfort to the patient.

The future of research at PathWest – Early Career Research Awards
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Our People
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Staff snapshot
PathWest employs more than 2,600 dedicated staff, who provide world-leading 
pathology and forensic services for patients and clients across Western Australia, 
nationally and internationally.

Scientist  38.06%

Technical  32.67% Administration  11.52%

Phlebotomy  7.88% 

Consult pathologist  5.11%
Registrar  2.34% 
IT  2.29% 

Anthropologist  0.05%
Nursing  0.04% 
Odontologist  0.02%

2,600 
staff

Pathologist
Pathologists are medical doctors specialising in the study of the nature and causes 
of diseases and are certified through the RCPA.

Laboratory or Technical assistant
Laboratory and technical assistants may be involved in: 

• specimen collection

• specimen sorting and registration

• sample processing

• maintaining, calibrating and operating laboratory equipment 

• performing pathology tests.

Administrative staff
Administrative staff across PathWest ensure the efficient and effective operation of 
services within individual departments.

Scientist
AIMS accredited medical scientists often specialise in a particular discipline and 
are required to use innovative technology to perform a broad range of tests, as well 
as conduct manual testing using chemicals and viewing cells under a microscope. 

Phlebotomist
Phlebotomists’ key role is the collection of blood, urine and other specimens from 
patients in hospitals, laboratories, collection centres and via domiciliary (visiting) 
services across WA. 
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Dr Peter Boan 
Infectious Diseases Physician and 
Microbiologist – Microbiology

Peter is proud of the discipline of 
microbiology and pathology in general and 
acknowledged that the events of the last 
couple of years has brought microbiology 
more into the public spotlight -  
“COVID-19 has shown the importance and 
flexibility of pathology to adapt to new 
diagnostic challenges.”

However, as we know pathology is 
#MoreThanCOVID and Peter is happy to 
work in the exciting field of pathology.  
He said “accurate diagnosis of diseases plays a crucial part in the management 
of patients. Pathology is an exciting field, using scientific breakthroughs to 
continually find new and improved ways to diagnose diseases.”

“My aim is to pursue microbiological diagnostic tests which are useful in the 
management of immunocompromised patients”.

In the Microbiology laboratory at FSH, Peter is currently auditing mould 
infections, examining the types of moulds causing infection in risk groups, 
antifungal susceptibilities, outcomes, and the influence of antifungal prophylaxis.

Joel Graham 
Medical Scientist – Haematology

A day in the life of Joel includes ensuring 
accuracy of analysers through quality control 
procedures, cross matching donor red cell 
units for blood transfusions, assessing fetal 
blood loss during and after pregnancy, 
measurement of clotting factors during 
surgery and major bleeding episodes, blood 
film microscopy and the cryopreservation of 
stem cells for patients with haematological 
malignancies.

His journey to get where he is now 
commenced when he started his first job in 
healthcare as an orderly in the theatres at 
Peel Health Campus where he was exposed to medical science through his 
interaction with the lab onsite. This piqued his interest, so he went on to obtain 
a degree in laboratory medicine from Curtin University while working as a 
laboratory technician at FSH and RPH. He then moved to QEII to biobank for the 
Charles Day Tissue Bank before moving to the Haematology Department.

When asked about what he liked best about his role Joel commented, “the job 
satisfaction from knowing that we provide a great service, helping world class 
clinicians deliver better health outcomes for the community”.

His role impacts the bigger picture within WA Health as the laboratory provides 
services to SCGH, PCH and PathWest’s regional hospital laboratories and 
collection centres. Joel is proud of his department supporting many remote 
hospitals throughout the state who do not have access to local pathology 
services.

#PathWestPathBest - Profiling our staff
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Dr Sarah Nickerson 
Genetic Pathologist –  
Diagnostic Genomics

Sarah is passionate about her specialty 
and sees the value in genetic testing for 
many reasons.

Sarah explains, “It can be used to confirm 
whether someone has a particular genetic 
condition and may be helpful in 
suggesting more appropriate treatment or 
providing information about the likely 
course of an illness. Once a genetic 
change has been detected, healthy family 
members may also be offered testing to see whether they are at risk of the 
same condition or carriers at risk of having children with the same condition. 
This information could be used to help prevent or reduce the personal and/or 
familial risk of a specific genetic disease”.

Carrier testing is also available to couples to assess whether they are at risk 
of having children with genetic conditions when there is no known family 
history.

The simplest way to explain genetic pathology is that our genes carry 
important information to make our bodies grow and function properly, but 
some individuals have a faulty gene associated with a severe genetic disorder.

Sarah describes the focus of her work as “detecting those individuals who 
may have genetic predisposition to their current medical concerns (or potential 
future medical concerns) and those who are healthy carriers of genetic 
conditions that can develop in other family members. As the field is fast 
growing, we must ensure safe implementation of all recent advances in 
genetics/genomics”.

#PathWestPathBest - Profiling our staff
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Awarding greatness
Recognition of Service Awards
PathWest Recognition of Service awards ensure all team members across the State 
who have given 10 or more years of service, are recognised for their dedication and 
valuable contribution to public pathology in Western Australia.

In November 2021, the Chief Executive and Board Chair held an event at the  
UWA Club to celebrate PathWest’s longest serving staff, with 67 awards presented 

to the 20-, 30-, 40- and 50-years of service recipients. An additional 102 recipients 
were awarded for 10 years of service at local celebrations. 

This commitment and loyalty to our service helps to build our reputation and 
deserves to be celebrated.

The following number of recipients were recognised for their years of service:

10 years – 102 staff

20 years – 46 staff

30 years – 8 staff

40 years – 2 staff 

50 years – 1 staff

Together, this year’s recipients 

have a cumulative length of 

service of  2,530 years!
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Focusing on wellness
The PathWest Wellbeing Working Group was formed in July 2021 to develop and 
promote wellness initiatives to benefit PathWest employees.

The Working Group is chaired by Corporate Services and has a membership to 
include employees across the networks, departments and disciplines.

Some of the wellness initiatives for 2021/22 include:

• RU OK? Day – participated by PathWest employees in September 2021 with 
morning teas and employees wearing yellow in support of the cause.

• PathWest ocean dips – commenced in October 2021 and held monthly at 
Cottesloe Beach on the first Friday of each month.

• Get on Track walking challenge – 33 teams from PathWest participated in the 
challenge in November/December 2021.

• Inaugural Golf Day – commenced in December 2021 and held ad hoc throughout 
the year.

• Physiotherapy offer – PathWest staff offered a discount for their first visit to 
Kinima Physiotherapy.

• Christmas Decoration Competition – Departments encouraged to decorate 
their areas in their own original Christmas themes with the prize supplied by our 
sponsor Paywise.

• Employee of the Season Awards – focused on celebrating and rewarding 
outstanding employees for their efforts in making a difference to patients, staff 
and or the community. The awards began in February 2022, occur every two 
months to coincide with the Noongar seasons and are sponsored by Paywise and 
HESTA.

• PathWest Mentorship Program – nominations for the Program opened in early 
2022. The program offers PathWest employees an opportunity to connect, 
collaborate, discuss career progression pathways and develop professional 
leadership skills. The program was launched in June 2022, will run for 12 months 
and currently has 24 participants.

• Employee Assistance Program (EAP) Onsite Program – a 12-week pilot 
program, contracted through Converge, commenced in April 2022 with fortnightly 
counselling sessions available at QEII and FSH either in person or online. The 
program offers localised onsite welfare and mental health support for staff during 
this period of escalated stress and demand. PathWest was the first HSP to offer 
this program.

• Coffee and Walk – Monthly social morning walks in Kings Park with a coffee at 
Zamia Cafe began in May 2022 and were held monthly, weather permitting. 
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Developing our staff
PathWest provides a range of professional development opportunities for staff 
which is also integral to attracting and retaining a skilled and capable workforce. 

Leadership development 
PathWest recognises the importance of establishing its future leaders through 
making an investment in leadership development including:

Leadership masterclass series
With the support of the Institute for Health Leadership (IHL), 17 leaders from across 
PathWest participated in the 2022 Masterclass Series across a range of interesting 
and relevant topics to inspire and further develop the leadership skills of PathWest 
staff.

Aboriginal LEAD program
The Aboriginal Workforce Consultant participated in the Aboriginal LEAD program. 
LEAD is a leadership and talent development initiative aimed at fast tracking high 
potential Aboriginal staff into senior management and executive positions in the WA 
health system. The program has been designed to provide participants with a range 
of leadership and learning opportunities delivered in a structured and culturally 
secure way.

Team Building Workshops
The PathWest Leadership Team Building workshops were designed and delivered to 
continue to develop building on understanding the strengths and weaknesses within 
the leadership team and how to harness these qualities to build a cohesive 
leadership. The workshops were delivered over two half-day sessions, based around 
the PRINT profiling tool, with 33 PathWest Corporate and Executive staff attending.

Coaching
Coaching approaches to leadership and management are recognised as a powerful 
enabler of successful staff development and organisational change where self-
discovery, personal initiative, empowerment, decision making, and responsibility are 
encouraged for individual team members and whole teams.

In 2021, the IHL provided four PathWest staff members with opportunity to 
participate in the Leader as Coach program. The program introduces employees to 
coaching models, concepts and tools to enable participants to adopt a coaching 
approach to leadership and management.

In addition, IHL provided the opportunity for one of our senior leaders to participate 
in individual coaching sessions with a credentialed coach.

Professional development 
PathWest offers a package of half-day and one-day training courses for staff, 
designed to equip them with the ‘soft skills’ to be resilient and effective. In 2021/22, 
181 staff members participated in 15 courses offered by PathWest as part of 
professional development training. 

Courses included:

• Stress Management

• Dealing with Change in the Workplace

• Building Buoyancy

• Leading Positively through change

In response to COVID-19 restrictions on face to face training, courses were offered 
virtually, ensuring continuous delivery of professional development opportunities for 
PathWest staff.
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Urine and drug screening accreditation 
It is a requirement of Australian Standards 4308 Procedures for specimen collection 
and the detection and quantitation of drugs of abuse in urine that staff performing 
urine drug screen collections complete an accredited course of study. 

Through an affiliation with the NMHS’s Registered Training Organisation, PathWest 
delivers the HLTPAT005 - Collect specimens for drugs of abuse testing course to 
PathWest phlebotomists across Western Australia. Since commencement, 88 staff 
have completed the accredited training course, with 43 staff successfully completing 
the accredited training in 2021/22.

Staff training
E-learning 
The PathWest Learning Management System (LMS) provides access to all mandatory 
training courses, including Corporate Induction, Aboriginal Cultural e-Learning, 
Accountable and Ethical Decision Making, Recordkeeping Awareness, Essential 
Cyder Security Training and Patient Confidentiality. 

The LMS also contains specialist courses including Customer Service - Specimen 
Collection, Chemical Safety and the nationally accredited unit of competency, 
HLTPAT005 Collect Specimens for Drugs of Abuse Testing. 

PathWest Training and Development work with all disciplines to develop any 
bespoke eLearning packages required to ensure the delivery of relevant discipline 
specific training and development. 

MyLearning
A new health system-wide learning management system, MyLearning, was 
introduced enabling increased consistency, governance and reporting capabilities. 

The introduction of MyLearning is the result of significant collaboration between all 
HSPs including PathWest, subject matter experts, consumers and other key 
stakeholders. 

Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) eLearning
The eLearning package educates and empowers staff to respect and celebrate 
diversity, ensuring the workforce respects the diversity of the community we serve 
and that we all experience a sense of belonging and inclusion at work. 

The EDI modules are aligned with the identified diversity groups: Women, youth, 
Aboriginal people, people with disability, the LGBTIQ+ community, and culturally and 
linguistically diverse people. 

Additionally, PathWest released a new Aboriginal Workforce eLearning module  
“An introduction to Section 51 of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984”. The purpose of 
this eLearning is to provide an overview of how to use flexible and culturally 
considered recruitment processes for Aboriginal applicants.

Mandatory training 
Mandatory training is provided to all new and existing staff members. In response to 
PathWest’s commitment to strengthening cyber resilience to safeguard our staff and 
patients, the Essential Cyber Security training became mandatory for all staff in 
2022. 

Mandatory compliance as of 30 June 2022: 

 Aboriginal and Cultural eLearning  84% 

 Accountable and Ethical Decision Making  87% 

 Recordkeeping Awareness  88% 

 Confidentiality  91% 

 Essential Cyber Security  51% 
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Listening to our staff 
Your Voice in Health Survey
Results of the Minister for Health’s third Your Voice in Health (YVIH) staff 
engagement survey were released in August 2021. 

Despite ongoing COVID-19 activities, participation increased significantly from the 
previous year’s survey (+50%) to 81 per cent, with the engagement score remaining 
static (+1%) to 58 per cent.  PathWest staff reported feeling that their teams behave 
in an accepting manner towards people from diverse backgrounds, were committed 
to service delivery and staff are aware of how their work contributes to the overall 
strategic objectives of the HSP.

As was the case following previous YVIH surveys, workshops with staff and the 
extended leadership team were convened, PathWest developed a corporate plan 
which included actions focused on leadership, performance management, health and 
wellbeing, management behaviour and skills, and reward and recognition. 

During 2021/22, the majority of PathWest’s corporate actions, developed in response 
to survey results, were completed including: 

•  Implementation of an ‘Employee of the Noongar season’ program across 
PathWest.  

•  Development and implementation of a standardised PathWest employee Exit 
Survey. 

•  Establishment of the PathWest Wellbeing Working Group to drive wellness 
initiatives across the organisation.

•  Development and implementation of a PathWest Succession Plan to ensure 
business and operational activities are always managed.

•  Promotion and implementation taking place for the new PathWest Leadership 
Capability Framework. 

Discipline/department specific action plans were also developed to address local 
issues, and quarterly reports on the progress of key corporate actions were provided 
to the Minister for Health. 

The Minister for Health subsequently advised on 10 February 2022 that the YVIH 
survey for 2022 would be deferred to 2023.
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Our Achievements
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COVID-19 – PathWest’s response
COVID-19 had a significant impact on PathWest and its staff throughout 2021/22. 

As WA’s borders opened and infections climbed, PathWest remained at the 
forefront of the State’s response both taking samples and testing in the 
laboratory. PathWest also played a key role in establishing testing capability in 
regional WA, as well as procuring millions of rapid antigen tests for the people 
of Western Australia. 

Pre-analytical services continued to provide frontline and behind the scenes 
support to the COVID-19 response, ensuring the efficient and flexible service 
could continue  to provide hotel, airport, shipping, defence force and domiciliary 
collections, as well as respond and adapt to various outbreaks and surges. They 
were also integral to the establishment of PathWest’s own drive through clinic.

The COVID-19 pandemic also had direct and indirect impacts on PathWest with 
greater absenteeism due to the spread of COVID-19, and changes to shift 
patterns – with many areas moving to split shifts to ensure business continuity. 

A testament to the 
dedication of PathWest 
staff – overall, services 
were not impacted, and 
TATs remained steady 
throughout the year.

Throughout 2021/22 
PathWest completed 
930,851 COVID-19 tests 
– almost 300,000 more 
than the year previous.

At a glance 
Testing performed

Performing Lab Tests

Albany 341

Busselton 240

Broome 1,572

Bunbury 240

Carnarvon 128

Derby 673

Esperance 231

Geraldton 501

Port Hedland 264

King Edward Memorial Hospital (KEMH) 204

Kalgoorlie 694

Karratha 428

Kununurra 1,272

Narrogin 78

Northam 233

RPH 12,100

FSH 419,347

QEII 492,305

Total COVID-19 Tests 930,851
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Performing statistics based on collection location

Source of activity Tests

Regional WA 128,934

Hotel quarantine 225,699

Metro inc. COVID-19 Clinics 559,352

Airport 16,866

Total 930,851

PathWest COVID-19 collection statistics

Collection location Tests

Quarantine hotel - guestsQuarantine hotel - guests 44,853

Quarantine hotel - staff 180,846

Domiciliary/visiting collects 10,317

Airport – Domestic arrivals 16,866

ECU pop up (various) 5,144

Murdoch 71,519

Total 329,545

Regional Outbreak Management
Many of PathWest’s regional laboratories/collection centres are staffed by only two 
or three people, and staffing relief is often not an option – meaning absenteeism can 
have a major impact. Amazingly (but expectedly) the PathWest Regional Services 
team demonstrated outstanding dedication and professionalism to PathWest and the 
community throughout the pandemic maintaining full service to all regions despite 
severe staffing shortages and logistical impacts throughout the COVID-19 surge. 

A WA first – deployable PCR lab

In 2021 Microbiology staff built, validated and established WA’s first fully LIS-
integrated deployable PCR laboratory in Broome. The lab was operated by a roster 
of fourteen dedicated fly-in fly-out staff, who conducted over 8,000 tests for 
SARS-CoV-2 over a period of three months. By providing local molecular capability, 
the average turnaround time for COVID-19 testing for Broome reduced by over 24 
hours, with reductions of up to 48 hours for samples arising from East Kimberley 
clinics. The substantial decrease in turnaround time facilitated swift and effective 
public health responses, particularly when COVID-19 outbreaks occurred in remote 
aboriginal communities. In June, testing was expanded to include additional 
respiratory viruses such as influenza, demonstrating the ability of the deployable 
system to quickly adapt to rapidly evolving epidemiology. 
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Genomic sequencing
PathWest continues to be the only laboratory in Western Australia that performs 
COVID-19 WGS for WA Health.

As the borders opened and restrictions were reduced, PathWest prepared for a 
surge in COVID-19 WGS requests – and this remained a priority with widespread 
community transmission of Omicron leading to sequencing at full capacity for 
several months. Operations later shifted to sequencing a selection of COVID-19 
samples from across WA to ensure variants continue to be monitored.

Since PathWest began COVID-19 WGS, it has performed almost 200 runs – 
identifying all variants and sub variants of the virus. 

Wastewater testing
The Environmental Microbiology Unit has been monitoring for the presence of 
COVID-19 in the wastewater since 2020. During 2021, the program expanded to 
accommodate the opening of borders and the inevitable introduction of COVID-19 
into the community. 

The detection process was refined over the months of testing. In collaboration with 
the Microbial Surveillance Unit this included the integration of wastewater WGS 
that played a role in ruling out transmission between metropolitan catchments 
during small outbreaks.

As restrictions eased and borders opened the wastewater surveillance team closely 
monitored the virus throughout the State. Testing occurred at 48 unique locations 
including large metropolitan wastewater treatment plants and their respective sub 
catchments, regional towns and remote communities. Surveillance spanned from 
Albany in the Great Southern Region to Kalumburu – a remote community in the 
East Kimberley. 

As living with COVID-19 became the new normal, testing moved to a quantitative 
approach to monitor increase and decrease of viral concentration at a community 
level.

Collaborating with the Department of Health wastewater trends were compared to 
the well described clinical data, providing invaluable information for the future use 
of this environmental surveillance tool.

Due to the success of the COVID-19 wastewater surveillance program interest has 
expanded to other pathogens where development is continuing.
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Front of the frontline
PathWest continued its efforts at the frontline of testing throughout 2021/22, with 
a team working whenever and wherever needed to collect 329,545 samples, 
including from:

• Perth Airport 

• Hotel quarantine – staff and guests

• Cargo ship crew

• Home domiciliary

• Other domiciliary, including testing workers in shipping, defence and private 
health care

• Murdoch Drive-through clinic

• Transport Freight and Logistics drivers at a dedicated Kewdale collection site

• ECU pop-up clinic

Murdoch Drive-through
Planning for a drive-through clinic began in late 2021 and presented a relatively 
straightforward way to provide large-scale testing with minimal interaction with 
other people.

WA’s first free access public community-based drive through COVID-19 collection 
centre opened in March 2022 within the grounds of Murdoch University – and was 
a hive of activity with 71,519 samples collected in only three months.

The purpose-built facility consists of three large, dual-lane marquees, a small  
site office, storage and staff facilities. This set up allowed for four cars per 
marquee (12 cars in total), with testing per car taking approximately six minutes 
dependent on the number of passengers needing testing.  The drive through was 
the largest in the State and had the capacity to collect approximately 1,500 
samples each day.

Securing RATs for the State
More than 80 million rapid antigen tests (RAT) were secured for WA by PathWest, 
as part of the State Government’s response to COVID-19. 

The Premier Mark McGowan and Minister for Health Amber-Jade Sanderson visited 
the facility housing the State’s RAT supply in February 2022, acknowledging the 
work PathWest and colleagues at HSS had done to secure, pack and distribute the 
supply.

The RATs, which formed part of the State Government Free RAT Program, were 
distributed across the State to households, schools and childcare providers, 
hospitals, the airport, at large-scale events, pop up RAT collection points and 
internally at PathWest to all staff.

The free RAT program continues to deliver millions of free RATs to Western 
Australians to support people across the State in staying safe and managing the 
impacts of COVID-19.
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COVID-19 PCR testing for International 
Travellers
In early 2022, PathWest commenced providing fee-for-service COVID-19 testing for 
international travellers who required proof of a negative test to travel. 

The test results were securely emailed within 24-48 hours to print out and take to 
the airport, with no referral required from a doctor. 

Western Australian COVID-19 Immunity 
Collaborative Biobank
PathWest continued its work on the WACIC Biobank, which aims to establish a 
research repository of samples and clinical information that will allow researchers 
to investigate how immunity to the SARS-CoV-2 virus develops, how long it lasts 
and to develop diagnostic laboratory tests to demonstrate whether someone is 
immune to COVID-19.

The biobank was established in 2021 and has received more than $1.3m in 
funding from the State Government, Stan Perron Foundation, Murdoch and  
Notre Dame Universities and is approved by the South Metropolitan Health 
Service Human Research Ethics Committee.

Researchers have recruited 553 adult and paediatric participants, including those 
who have been immunised and / or had COVID and close contacts, and will 
monitor these groups over a two-year period, collecting blood, saliva, and mouth 
swabs.

Equipment boost 
To ensure PathWest had the capacity to respond to the increased demands, more 
than $1.5 million was spent on equipment to boost COVID-19 testing capacity 
within the laboratories. 

Equipment Quantity Total 

Roche cobas 6800 1 $490,000

Cobas LIAT Instrument 20 $420,000

Cepheid GeneXpert instruments 5 $156,187

Roche Magna Pure 96 1 $120,000

Biomolecular Systems Liquid Handling System 1 $77,045

Hamilton Hepa Filter Hood 2 $71,850

Roche LightCycler 480 II Instrument 1 $60,000

Bio-Rad ThermoCycler PCR System 1 $45,441

Perkin Elmer Janus G3 Liquid Handler 1 $45,000

Gelaire Cabinet Hood 2 $30,594

Total  $1,516,117
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COVID-19 Mandatory Vaccination Program
As part of measures put in place by the State Government under the public state of 
emergency, the Chief Health Officer released Health Worker (Restrictions on 
Access) Directions to assist in the management of COVID-19 in WA.

This included ensuring all staff who could receive COVID-19 vaccinations had done 
so, and restricting access to health care facilities for those health care employees 
who were not partially or fully vaccinated.

More than 97 per cent of PathWest staff have received at least three doses of a 
COVID-19 vaccine.

Contact tracing and staff furloughing
As part of the PathWest 100 Day Living with COVID-19 Project, the Corporate 
Services team developed forms and processes to report on PathWest employees 
who were deemed to be COVID-19 positive or a close contact as part of the 
Department of Health requirements.

Reporting commenced in early February 2022 with the first PathWest employee 
reporting their positive result on 15 February 2022. A PathWest contact tracing 
team was formed to enable tracing of those employees who had been in contact 
with a COVID positive employee, along with a reporting hotline for employees and 
managers - with the number of calls and responses provided well in the thousands.

Processes and forms continued to change and evolve in line with community 
transmission and as the guidelines from the Chief Health Officer and Department of 
Health were updated. 

Furloughing figures are current as of 19 July 2022 and are reported weekly to the 
PathWest Chief Executive and Office of the Director General.

Furlough Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22

COVID Positive 11 122 220 373 244

Close Contact 13 207 239 315 196
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Responding to COVID – A FSH Microbiology perspective
During the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced global shortages 
of diagnostic reagents (substances used for testing purposes), consumables and 
personal protective equipment (PPE). To improve laboratory safety and reduce 
additional PPE use, FSH Microbiology developed a SARS-CoV-2 heat inactivation 
method prior to cobas® 6800 PCR testing. This enabled safer processing of 
COVID-19 samples and allowed precious PPE resources to be redirected to  
front-line personnel.  

To address reagent shortages and increase throughput whilst maintaining 24-hour 
test turnaround times, FSH Microbiology was the first laboratory in Australia to 
evaluate and implement the high-throughput PlexPCR SARS-CoV-2 assay. Using this 
approach, local reagent supply was guaranteed and allowed a dramatic increase in 
testing throughput without the need for sample pooling. 

In preparation for the WA borders opening in March 2022 and the inevitability of 
surge testing, FSH Microbiology developed a sensitive extraction free approach 
using the PlexPCR SARS-CoV-2 assay to further increase laboratory testing 
capacity. Combined with cobas® 6800, the extraction-free approach increased 
the total testing capacity of FSH Microbiology to 19,364 results in a 24-hour 
period. 

To improve standardisation and the interpretation of PCR results, FSH 
Microbiology was the first laboratory worldwide to publish a SARS-CoV-2 assay 
calibrated to the first WHO International Standard for SARS-CoV-2 RNA, 
expressed in international units per millilitre. This quantitative measurement 
approach was used to describe the clinical associations of SARS-CoV-2 infection 
compared to viral load. 
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Investing in equipment
The use of contemporary technology and equipment at PathWest has continued to 
expand, with pathologists and scientific staff provided with the latest instruments 
to maintain a high standard pathology testing service. More than $1.7 million was 
allocated to purchase the latest technology and equipment for PathWest.

Equipment Total

DNA analyser $413,827

Liquid handling system $290,000

Waters XEVO TQ-S $211,688

Fridges and freezers $194,473

Hydrogen peroxide vapour generator $138,010

Centrifuges $113,069

Leica Aperio Image Scanscope $110,508

Incubators $85,366

Benchtop analyser $60,000

Immunoassay analyser $45,500

RNA extraction system $42,339

Thermal cyclers $39,616

Total $1,744,397

The new Leica Aperio Image Scanscope allows consultants to apply 
digital image analysis algorithm for the evaluation of Ki-67 proliferation 
index in breast cancer patients. Estimation of Ki-67 in breast cancer 
samples has a key prognostic and therapeutic value depending on the 
breast cancer subtype. This body of work has now been fully integrated 
into the routine workflow of Anatomical Pathology and has replaced 
manual counting of Ki-67 proliferation index by pathologists and scientists 
in PathWest. This has freed up pathologists from the massive task of 
examining cases under light microscopy by counting cell nuclei and 
measuring tumour nuclei point to point therefore saving an enormous 
amount of associated time and cost.
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20 years of tackling crime with DNA 
The Western Australia DNA database was established in 2002 in line with the 
enactment of the Criminal Investigation (Identifying People) Act 2002 and, over the 
past 20 years, more than 450,000 DNA profiles have been registered, leading to 
more than 50,000 link reports submitted to WAPF. This includes:

• 102,000 crime scene DNA profiles

• 350,000 reference DNA profiles from people (representing approximately  
170,000 different people)

Managed by PathWest Forensic Biology, the database has been used by the WA 
Police Force (WAPF) to convict offenders of crimes ranging from murder and sexual 
assault to armed robbery and serious property offences, as well as being used to 
successfully eliminate suspects or prove someone innocent.

Twenty years ago, DNA testing was a quantum leap forward in identifying 
perpetrators of criminal activities since the fingerprint. Since then DNA technology 
has evolved rapidly, with modern techniques so sensitive it is now possible to 
recover DNA from traces invisible to the naked eye.
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Statewide Comprehensive Genomic Testing
Patients are beginning to see the benefits of the PathWest Statewide 
Comprehensive Genomic Testing program, run by Anatomical Pathology, with 
personalised medicine now being integrated into clinical practice.

The $19 million Federally funded program (from the Community Health and Hospital 
Program or CHHP) is revolutionising how cancer is treated in WA by further 
understanding its genetics in greater detail and reflects PathWest’s commitment to 
the provision of a first-class service for WA cancer patients.

PathWest scientists and pathologists use next generation sequencing technologies 
to examine the DNA and RNA of cancer cells, looking for any genetic aberrations of 
diagnostic, prognostic and therapeutic significance. This molecular analysis helps 

determine a precise cancer diagnosis, enabling clinicians to more accurately treat 
cancer based on the genomic profile and not solely on the cancer morphology or 
location of the tumour in the body.

In 2021/22, staffing was increased to meet increasing service demand including 
from external referrers such as the Garvan Institute and Linear. 

Through this program, many WA cancer patients are now being aligned with a 
targeted therapy and/or clinical trial which they otherwise may not have been able 
to access, meaning many patients are already realising the benefits of precision 
medicine.  

Members of Molecular Anatomical Pathology Advisory Board: left to right: C/Professor Spagnolo, Dr K Nowak, Prof. M Millward, Dr S Morris,  
Mr A Bautista, C/Professor B Amanuel, Mr E Siah, Dr C Robinson (Absent: Prof A Nowak, Dr T Ferguson,  A/Professor N Pachter).
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Our Significant Issues
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Infrastructure improvements
State Mortuary upgrade
State-of-the-art post-mortem theatres and a dedicated crime suite are just part of 
the $8.92 million upgrade and expansion of the State Mortuary.

The expansion, which will also feature a larger and more streamlined admissions 
area, enhanced audio-visual equipment and dedicated infectious autopsy theatre, 
will ensure the mortuary is future-proofed to continue to deliver high quality and 
efficient post-mortem services for Western Australia.

Pathologists in the State Mortuary perform an essential role, providing post-mortem 
examinations to assist in the investigation of more than 3,100 unexpected and/or 
unexplained deaths reported to the State Coroner each year. 

The expanded facilities will increase capacity to perform more post-mortems, 
contributing to a more efficient State coronial system and informing work carried 
out by the wider WA health system, the WA Police Force, and the WA Department 
of Justice and Office of Public Prosecutions through its criminal case work.

This is the first major redevelopment of the State Mortuary facility since it was 
built in the 1970s. Other minor upgrades have been completed during this time, 
including the opening of the Bereavement Centre and Reflection Garden in 2016.

Construction is expected to be completed in May 2023.

Ellenbrook Collection Centre
The Ellenbrook Collection Centre was completed and opened in August 2021, 
servicing the North Eastern suburbs of Perth.

The modern collection centre has four collection rooms, breakout space for staff, 
adequate storage and a welcoming reception area.
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Infrastructure improvements
Newman Health Service
New dedicated pathology rooms, that form part of the $61.4 million Newman 
Health Service redevelopment, were completed in May 2022. The Newman Health 
Service provides healthcare to residents in the vast geographic location of the East 
Pilbara.

The new purpose-built space provides a modern, more open plan laboratory space 
enabling the laboratory to accommodate additional equipment to meet growing 
regional service demand.

The Newman Health Service provides healthcare to residents in the vast 
geographic location of the East Pilbara district.

Minor works
PathWest continues to invest in many minor infrastructure improvements to  
ensure the organisation can continue to provide services from well maintained, 
fit-for-purpose facilities. 

Given the majority of PathWest’s facilities sit within other HSP managed buildings/
grounds, a coordinated approach to infrastructure improvements is managed 
between PathWest and the relevant HSP. 

In 2021/22, works included the completion of the E Block collection centre 
refurbishment and various upgrades to facilities on the QEII and  
KEMH campuses. 
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Improving ICT
Embedding the LIS
Changing a LIS is a ‘once-in-a-labs-lifetime’ event and a major undertaking.  
When you factor in the size and complexity of PathWest and the diversity of the 
stakeholders it services, it was always going to be an enormous exercise –  
a challenge PathWest has risen to. 

At the same time, changing a LIS naturally has a flow on effect to many workflows 
across the organisation that were developed for the previous system, ULTRA. Since 
the implementation of LIS in 2020 PathWest has continued to work on system 
stabilisation across our vast laboratory network, targeted functional improvements 
and overall optimisation. 

As the organisation strives for continuous improvement, several programs of 
intense work have been undertaken focused on supporting testing and operational 
excellence.

A new technology strategy
In alignment with the PathWest Strategic Plan 2021-2025, PathWest has 
commenced a journey of people, process, technology, governance, and culture 
enabled improvements.

The technology strategy and function will be clinically focused, discipline centric, 
data and service driven. 

PathWest continue to deliver operational efficiency, implementing process 
standardisation to Australian and International standards, driving a maturity in our 
technology framework. This includes building internal capability to better serve 
customers and staff to improve responsiveness.
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Network security and network access 
improvements
In the 2020/21 Annual Report, the Auditor General qualified PathWest’s Audit 
Opinion with the following statement:  

I identified significant weaknesses in network security and remote access 
controls at PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA. These weaknesses could result 
in a potential security exposure such as unauthorised access to sensitive 
information and an increased risk of information loss. The weaknesses exposed 
the network to increased vulnerabilities which could undermine the integrity of 
data across all systems, including the financial system.

In response, PathWest immediately began work with HSS and other impacted HSPs 
on a business case for the WA Health Critical Health ICT Infrastructure Program 
(CHIIP) which will replace current Local Area Network (LAN) infrastructure.

Internally, PathWest:

1. Reviewed technology strategy and IT operating model to identify the optimum 
structure to support PathWest’s IT requirements. 

2. Undertook a penetration testing exercise (completed by HSS) to identify any 
vulnerabilities in the LIS.

3. Implemented various recommendations from penetration testing including 
working with the LIS vendor to update and refine password controls.

4. Liaised with LIS vendor to ensure server software is updated to the latest 
versions.

5. Reviewed and updated IT policies including change management policies.
6. Reviewed HR off-boarding processes to improve the processes that drive the 

close out of IT and physical access when an employee leaves PathWest. 
7. Implemented mandatory cyber security training. 
8. Initiated a project to update Business Continuity Plans (BCP) across PathWest 

including identifying IT BCP requirements in key areas. 
9. Reviewed risk management policies including those relevant to IT risk and 

commenced a series of risk workshops with IT team to identify risks and 
relevant mitigation strategies. 

PathWest continues to work with HSS, the LIS vendor and other stakeholders to 
continuously improve network security and access.

Investing in newer technology
PathWest has invested in modern technologies to support and enable the growing 
data requirements for the organisation. In addition, early discovery work in the 
fields of digital pathology, computational pathology and artificial intelligence has 
commenced.

KPI dashboards
To facilitate real-time, data driven decision making across our operations, PathWest 
has invested in a series of operational KPI dashboards to measure and provide 
high-level insight into performance over time. 
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Key Performance Indicators 
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Certification of  
key performance indicators 
PATHWEST LABORATORY MEDICINE WA
CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess PathWest’s performance, 
and fairly represent the performance of PathWest for the financial year ended  
30 June 2022. 

Angie Paskevicius  Samantha Elder
Board Chair  A/Chair, PathWest Board Finance, Risk   
PathWest Board and Audit Committee 
29 September 2022  PathWest Board
 29 September 2022 

Performance Management 
Framework 
The Outcome Based Management (OBM) framework describes how outcomes, 
services, and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are used to measure WA Health 
system performance. 

PathWest is responsible for delivering and reporting against:

• Outcome 2 - Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care 
services that help Western Australians to live healthy and safe lives.

“Pathology Services” was included in WA Health’s OBM framework to recognise 
PathWest’s establishment as a Statutory Authority as of 1 July 2018.

The OBM KPIs measure the effectiveness and efficiency of the services delivered 
against agreed State Government priorities and desired outcomes.
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Performance Management Framework 
The alignment of 2021/22 PathWest key performance indicators to State Government and WA Health system goals are demonstrated below:

Strong communities – Safe communities and supported families.   WA GOVERNMENT GOAL

Delivery of safe, quality, financially sustainable and accountable healthcare for all Western Australians.   WA HEALTH SYSTEM GOAL

Pathology Services – The provision of State-wide external diagnostics services across the full range of pathology 
disciplines inclusive of forensic biology and pathology services to other WA Government agencies and services provided 
to the public by PathWest. This service also includes these operational costs of PathWest in delivering these services to 
both health services providers and the public.

   SERVICE DELIVERED

Outcome 2 – Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care services that help Western Australians 
to live healthy and safe lives.   WA  HEALTH OUTCOMES

   PATHWEST’S KEY
   PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Key effectiveness indicator

KPI 1 – Percentage of PathWest test 
results available to Emergency Departments 
(ED) within the required timeframe  
(in laboratory to validated time):  
(a) Haemoglobin (40 minutes);  
(b) Potassium (40 minutes);  
(c) Troponin (50 minutes.

Key effectiveness indicator

KPI 2 – Percentage of  
PathWest Pathology Quality 
Assurance Program results 
within an acceptable range.

Key efficiency indicator

KPI 3 – Average cost of pathology 
services per test panel.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
PathWest works closely with several government and non-government agencies to deliver pathology and forensic services for the State to achieve the targets set out 
in the WA Health 2021/22 OBM key performance indicator data definition manual.
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Key Effectiveness Indicators
KPI 1
Percentage of PathWest test results available to Emergency 
Departments (ED) within the required timeframe (in laboratory 
to validated time):  
(a) Haemoglobin (40 minutes);  
(b) Potassium (40 minutes);  
(c) Troponin (50 minutes).

Rationale
PathWest is the main provider of pathology services within the WA health system, 
servicing public hospitals throughout Western Australia.

TATs for pathology tests are widely used as an indication of overall pathology 
service performance. In an ED, timely availability of pathology test results is crucial 
for accurate diagnosis and commencement of appropriate treatment. Improvements 
in pathology turnaround times can also impact the overall functioning of EDs by 
reducing the length of patient stays and improving throughput.

This performance indicator is based on three indicators produced by the Australian 
Council of Healthcare Standards (ACHS). The selection of these specific tests is due 
to their critical role in diagnosing potentially life-threatening conditions in an 
emergency setting. 

Results
577,280 tests from 11 hospital EDs were assessed against the targets during 
2021/22. All 3 indicators were met, with improvement noted over the previous year.

 Test 2019/20
Actual 

2020/21
Actual 

2021/22
Target 

2021/22
Actual 

Haemoglobin 94.5% 96.1% 88% 96.9%

Plasma Potassium 75.0% 76.9% 67% 78.7%

Troponin I 76.8% 71.7% 74% 76.3%

Note: This KPI is based on ACHS indicators which are specific to pathology 
requests from EDs only. Due to the inconsistent classification of emergency activity 
in smaller regional hospitals (e.g. Public acute groups C and D21), these sites are 
excluded from this KPI.

2021/22 Data Source: Soft SCC Laboratory Information System (Soft SCC), via 
PathWest data warehouse. 

2020/21 Data Source: ULTRA Laboratory Information System (ULTRA) and Soft 
SCC, via PathWest data warehouse. PathWest implemented a new LIS across its 
27 laboratories between February 2020 and October 2020. The data provided is a 
combination of both ULTRA and Soft SCC LIS data sets.

2019/20 Data Source: ULTRA, via PathWest data warehouse.
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KPI 2 
Percentage of PathWest Pathology Quality Assurance Program 
(QAP) results within an acceptable range.

Rationale
Pathology testing is used to: 

• predict susceptibility to disease 

• prevent disease by identifying risk factors in patients that can be modified 

• determine patient prognosis 

• identify the presence or absence of infection 

• monitor disease, identifying whether treatments are effective, and 

• personalise treatment to achieve the best clinical outcomes. 

PathWest performs over 10 million test panels per year. Tests that fail quality 
assurance testing may produce inaccurate results, which may lead to incorrect or 
delayed diagnosis and treatment, leading to increased morbidity or mortality.

PathWest is enrolled in a number of external Quality Assurance Programs to meet 
their mandatory accreditation requirements. The RCPA has the most extensive 
Quality Assurance Program in Australasia that has over 1,000 submissions from 
laboratories.

Results
104,258 QAP tests submitted to the RCPA for validation were included in the KPI 
measurement for 2021/22. The reported results are based on submissions due and 
received during 2021/22. The impact on the submissions due within the 2021/22 
financial period and not received during 2021/22 is not material.

 Division 2019/20  
% Passed

2020/21
Actual 

2021/22
Target 

2021/22
Actual 

Anatomical Pathology 98.1% 99.2%  100% 99.2%

South East Division 98.4% 97.6% 100% 98.3%

North West Division 98.6% 98.4% 100% 97.8%

Regional Services 96.9% 95.3% 100% 96.0%

PathWest Total 97.6% 96.3% 100% 96.8%

* While there is not an industry defined target, PathWest uses the theoretical target of 
100% passed to drive continuous quality improvement across the organisation.

Data Source: RCPA QAP survey result reports. 
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Key Efficiency Indicator
KPI 3
Average cost of pathology services per test.

Rationale
The purpose of this indicator is to provide a longitudinal measure of the financial 
efficiency of PathWest in the delivery of clinical and health pathology services 
(excluding forensic services) across WA.

Results

The average cost per test was higher than the prior year due to the following:

• an increase in cost of goods and services/employments costs that was mainly 
driven by an increase in COVID-19 related services

• an increase in cost of services provided by Health Support Services (HSS), and

• a reduction in own source revenue that was driven by a change in the mapping 
of accounts in the OBM

The target decreased to $25 from $28 as the cost of financial products were 
removed from the calculation of this KPI. The reduction in the target along with the 
increase in expenditure caused an unfavourable actual result against target.

 Items 2019/20 2019/20
Revised* 2020/21 2020/21

Revised* 2021/22

Expenditure $287,125,854 $275,904,349 $323,321,313 $292,947,667 $361,257,121

Activity: tests 10,426,812 10,426,812* 11,944,578 11,944,578 12,829,645

Average cost per test $27.54 $26.46 $27.07 $24.53 $28.16

Target $28.00 $25.00 $28.00 $25.00 $25.00

*A revision to the OBM definition for Expenditure was applied in 2021/22 which resulted in the exclusion of financial products. This had a material impact on the KPI therefore 
comparatives were revised. The exclusion of financial products provides a view of health service efficiency that reflects actual cost of service delivery. 

2021/22 Data Sources:  Soft SCC, via Pathwest data warehouse, Oracle General Ledger 17.2 OBM Expenditure 

2020/21 Data Sources:  ULTRA and Soft SCC, via PathWest data warehouse, Oracle General Ledger 17.2 OBM Expenditure 

2019/20 Data Sources: ULTRA via the data warehouse *Adjusted for Bentley, Busselton and Fiona Stanley Hospital Immunology testing performed on SSC Soft Computer 
Laboratory Information System, Oracle General Ledger 17.2 OBM Expenditure
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      Auditor General

Page 1 of 6

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 7500   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
2022

PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA (PathWest) which comprise: 

 the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2022, and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended 

 Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In my opinion, the financial statements are: 

 based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results and cash flows of the PathWest Laboratory 
Medicine WA for the year ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position at the end of that period 

 in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my report. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Audit opinion 
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Audit opinion 
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Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board is responsible for: 

 keeping proper accounts

 preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions

 such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for: 

 assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern

 disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

 using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government has made policy or funding decisions affecting the 
continued existence of PathWest.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements. The objectives of my audit are 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations 
or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 
website. This description forms part of my auditor’s report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  
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Report on the audit of controls 
Basis for Qualified Opinion
I identified significant weaknesses in network security and remote access controls at PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA. These weaknesses 
could result in a potential security exposure to the network and increased vulnerabilities which could undermine the integrity of data across all 
systems, including the financial system.

Qualified Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of controls exercised by PathWest Laboratory 
Medicine WA. The controls exercised by the Board are those policies and procedures established to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions 
(the overall control objectives).

My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report.

In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, in all material respects, the 
controls exercised by PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions during the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Board’s responsibilities
The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, 
the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and other relevant written law.

Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to express an opinion on the suitability of the 
design of the controls to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in 
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably designed to achieve the overall control objectives 
and were implemented as designed.

Audit opinion 
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Audit opinion 
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An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall 
control objectives and the implementation of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including an assessment of the 
risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My procedures included testing the implementation of those controls 
that I consider necessary to achieve the overall control objectives. 

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Limitations of controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably designed and implemented 
as designed, once in operation, the overall control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of the suitability of the design of controls to future 
periods is subject to the risk that the controls may become unsuitable because of changes in conditions.

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA for the year 
ended 30 June 2022. The key performance indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key effectiveness indicators and key efficiency indicators 
that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and delivering services.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA are relevant and appropriate to 
assist users to assess PathWest’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The Board’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such internal control as the Board determines necessary to enable the preparation 
of key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Board is responsible for identifying key performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, 
having regard to their purpose in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators.
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Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to express an opinion on the key performance 
indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key performance indicators are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard 
on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the 
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance 
engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the key performance 
indicators. It also involves evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and guidance in 
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected 
depend on my judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk 
assessments I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

My independence and quality control relating to the report on financial statements, controls and key performance indicators
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance 
engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial 
Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including 
documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements.

Other information
Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information is the information in the entity’s annual report for 
the year ended 30 June 2022, but not the financial statements, key performance indicators and my auditor’s report.

My opinions on the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators do not cover the other information and, accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Audit opinion 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators, my responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and key performance indicators or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. I 
did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive it, I will read it and if I conclude that there is a
material misstatement in this information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and request them to correct 
the misstated information. If the misstated information is not corrected, I may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report.

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements, and key performance indicators of PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA for the year ended 
30 June 2022 included in the annual report on PathWest’s website. PathWest’s management is responsible for the integrity of PathWest’s 
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of PathWest’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements, 
controls and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from the annual report. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks 
arising from publication on a website, they are advised to contact the entity to confirm the information contained in the website version.

Sandra Labuschagne
Deputy Auditor General
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
30 September 2022
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The accompanying financial statements of PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of 
the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period 
ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position as at 30 June 2022. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included within the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate. 

Sandy Kerr
Executive Director Finance, Procurement  
and Commercial Services
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
29 September 2022

Angie Paskevicius
Chair
PathWest Board
29 September 2022

Samantha Elder
A/Chair, PathWest Board Finance, Risk 
and Audit Committee 
PathWest Board
29 September 2022 

Certification of financial statements 
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2022

92 PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22



Financial statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2022

    2022 2021

  Note $’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES      

Expenses      

Employee benefits expense 2.1.1  266,573  246,362 

Domestic contracts 2.2  3,103  2,937 

Depreciation and amortisation expense
4.1, 4.2, 

4.3  14,694  13,638 

Finance costs 6.2  245  108 

Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment 2.2  10,820  9,334 

Supplies and services 2.2  109,067  90,655 

Other expenses 2.2  22,155  15,840 

Total cost of services    426,657  378,874 

       

Income      

Patient charges 3.1  34,570  33,116 

Other fees for services 3.2  15,393  16,082 

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 2.3  247  1 

Other income 3.4  2,781  4,019 

Total income    52,991  53,218 

NET COST OF SERVICES    373,666  325,656 

    2022 2021

  Note $’000 $’000

       

Income from State Government      

Department of Health – Service Agreement 3.3  173,210  153,303 

Income from other public sector entities 3.3  186,473  164,193 

Products and Services received free of charge 3.3  16,951  11,810 

Total income from State Government    376,634  329,306 

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD    2,968  3,650 

       

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      
Items not reclassified subsequently to  
profit or loss      

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 4.1  11,247  – 

Total other comprehensive income    11,247  – 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE PERIOD    14,215  3,650 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

93 PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22



Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022

    2022 2021

  Note $’000 $’000

ASSETS      

Current Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 6.3  29,385  25,270 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3  10,708  17,250 

Receivables 5.1  33,607  29,089 

Inventories 5.4  7,445  4,632 

Other current assets 5.3  2,857  2,143 

Total Current Assets    84,002  78,384 

Non-Current Assets      

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3  5,691  4,065 

Amounts receivable for services 5.2  116,276  101,637 

Property, plant and equipment 4.1  98,154  87,677 

Intangible assets 4.2  38,995  38,884 

Right-of-use assets 4.3  8,586  4,743 

Total Non-Current Assets    267,702  237,006 

TOTAL ASSETS    351,704  315,390 

       

    2022 2021

  Note $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES      

Current Liabilities      

Payables 5.5  22,131  17,446 

Lease liabilities 6.1  1,793  152 

Employee related provisions 2.1.2  60,810  57,068 

Other current liabilities 5.6  47  25 

Total Current Liabilities    84,781  74,691 

Non-Current Liabilities      

Lease liabilities 6.1  7,074  4,649 

Employee related provisions 2.1.2  15,957  14,388 

Total Non-Current Liabilities    23,031  19,037 

TOTAL LIABILITIES    107,812  93,728 

       

NET ASSETS    243,892  221,662 

       

EQUITY    

Contributed equity 8.7  199,995  191,980 

Reserves    11,247  – 

Accumulated surplus    32,650  29,682 

TOTAL EQUITY    243,892  221,662 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2022

    Contributed 
equity Reserves

Accumulated  
surplus Total equity

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2021 8.7  191,980  –  29,682  221,662 

Surplus    –  –  2,968  2,968 

Other comprehensive income    –  11,247  –  11,247 

Total comprehensive income for the period  4.1  –  11,247  2,968  14,215 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:          

Contribution by owners – Capital appropriations administered by Department of Health  8,015  –  –  8,015 

Total    8,015  –  –  8,015 

Balance at 30 June 2022    199,995  11,247  32,650  243,892 

    Contributed 
equity Reserves

Accumulated  
surplus Total equity

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2020 8.7  175,728 -  26,032  201,760 

Surplus    –  –  3,650  3,650 

Other comprehensive income    –  –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the period    –  –  3,650  3,650 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:          

Contribution by owners – Capital appropriations administered by Department of Health  16,252  –  –  16,252 

Total    16,252  –  –  16,252 

Balance at 30 June 2021    191,980  –  29,682  221,662 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2022

    2022 2021

  Note $’000 $’000
CASH FLOWS FROM THE  
STATE GOVERNMENT      

Department of Health – Service Agreement    158,571  139,799 

Contribution by owners – Capital appropriations  8,015  16,252 

Funds from other public sector entities    183,884  164,193 

Net cash provided by the State Government    350,470  320,244 

     

Utilised as follows:      
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES      

Payments      

Employees benefits    (259,980)  (241,750)

Supplies and services    (127,181)  (103,125)

Finance costs    (245)  (108)

Receipts      

Receipts from customers    31,190  26,346 

Other receipts    18,509  23,052 

Net cash used in operating activities    (337,707)  (295,585)

       

    2022 2021

  Note $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      

Payments      

Purchase of non-current assets    (11,780)  (9,688)

Receipts      

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets    310  18 

Net cash used in investing activities    (11,470)  (9,670)

       

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

Payments      

Principal elements of lease payments    (2,094)  (2,049)

Net cash used in financing activities    (2,094)  (2,049)

       
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents    (801)  12,940 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the period    46,585  33,645 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.3  45,784  46,585 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

NOTE 1. Basis of preparation
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA (PathWest) is a WA Government Health Service 
Provider and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate 
parent. PathWest is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been 
included in the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable 
Authority of PathWest on 29 September 2022.

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 
• Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

• Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs)

• Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) – Simplified Disclosure 

• Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable for notforprofit entities 
have been applied.

The FMA and the TIs take precedence over AAS. Several AASs are modified by the 
TIs to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required 
and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual 
basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will 
apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the 
case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial 
information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in the 
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts 
affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Accounting for Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services 
tax (GST), except that the: 
a) amount of GST incurred by the Agency as a purchaser that is not recoverable 

from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is recognised as part of an asset’s cost 
of acquisition or as part of an item of expense; and

b) receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. However, 
the GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a 
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, as designated as contributions 
by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) be recognised as equity contributions. 
Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been 
credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

NOTE 2. Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

This section provides additional information about how PathWest’s funding is applied 
and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items 
recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by PathWest in 
achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

  Notes

Employee benefits expenses 2.1.1

Employee related provisions 2.1.2

Other expenditure 2.2

2.1.1 Employee benefits expense

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Employee benefits  243,503  225,832 

Superannuation  23,070  20,530 

Total employee benefits expenses  266,573  246,362 

Employee benefits

Employee benefits include wages, salaries and social contributions, accrued and paid 
leave entitlements and paid sick leave, and non-monetary benefits (such as medical 
care, housing, cars and free or subsidised goods or services) for employees. 

Superannuation

Superannuation is the amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of 
comprehensive income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), the WSS, the GESB schemes or other superannuation funds. 

AASB 16 non-monetary benefits

Non-monetary employee benefits, predominantly relating to the provision of vehicle 
and housing benefits that are recognised under AASB 16 and are excluded from the 
employee benefits expense.

Employee contributions 

Contributions made to PathWest by employees towards employee benefits that have 
been provided by PathWest. This includes both AASB16 and non-AASB 16 employee 
contributions.
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2.1.2 Employee related provisions

 
2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Current    
Employee benefits provisions    

Annual leave (a)  33,903  31,942 

Time off in lieu leave (a)  1,852  1,904 

Long service leave (b)  25,012  23,179 

Deferred salary scheme (c)  43  43 

Total current employee related provisions  60,810  57,068 

Non-current    

Employee benefits provisions    

Long service leave (b)  15,982  14,429 

Deferred salary scheme (c)  (25)  (41)

Total non-current employee related provisions  15,957  14,388 

Total employee related provisions  76,767  71,456 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and 
long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an 
expense during the period the services are delivered.

a) Annual leave and time off in lieu leave liabilities

Annual leave and time off in lieu leave liabilities are classified as current as there is 
no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected 
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date.

b) Long service leave liabilities

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as 
PathWest does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as 
non-current liabilities because PathWest has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service.

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as PathWest does 
not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is 
measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These 
payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement and discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities

Deferred salary scheme liabilities are classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities 
gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.
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2.2 Other expenditure

  2022 2021
  $’000 $’000

Domestic contracts    

Domestic charges  3,033  2,875 

Food supplies  70  62 

Total domestic contracts expenses  3,103  2,937 

Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment    

Repairs and maintenance  7,343  7,432 

Minor equipment  3,477  1,902 
Total repairs, maintenance, and minor 
equipment expenses  10,820  9,334 

Supplies and services    

Supply costs  92,714  78,822 

Utilities  34  23 

Services provided by Health Support Services (HSS)    

Information, communication and technology (ICT) services  10,241  8,193 

Supply chain services  3,677  1,293 

Financial services  473  702 

Human resource services  1,928  1,622 

Total supplies and services expenses  109,067  90,655 

  2022 2021
  $’000 $’000

Other expenses    

Communications  636  632 

Document management  507  199 

Information, communication and technology  7,926  5,242 

Research, development and other grants  76  130 

Workers compensation insurance  314  728 

Training  314  253 

Travel and accommodation  1,651  1,313 

Rental expenses  973  965 

Other insurances  22  (8)

Consultancy fees  3,367  1,423 

Other employee related expenses  307  338 

Printing and stationery  1,212  1,256 

Expected credit losses expense  1,343  600 

Motor vehicle expenses  369  299 

Bank fees and charges  15  32 

Subscriptions and periodicals  1,366  818 

Licences and fees  947  845 

Legal  183  2 

Advertising  1  – 

Audit fees  266  225 

Other  360  548 

Total other expenses  22,155  15,840 

Total other expenditure  145,145  118,766 
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2.2 Other expenditure (continued)

Supplies and services 

Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period 
in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution 
are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Rental expenses include: 

i) Short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less; 

ii) Low-value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less; and 

iii) Variable lease payments, recognised in the period in which the event or condition 
that triggers those payments occur.

Information, communication and technology

Information, communication and technology costs are recognised as expenses as 
incurred.

Consultancy fees

Consultancy costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.

Expected credit losses

The allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables is measured at the 
lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. PathWest has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

2.3 Net gain on disposal of non-current assets

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Net gain on disposal of non-current assets    
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed:    

Property, plant and equipment  (50)  (17)

   (50)  (17)

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets:    

Property, plant and equipment  297  18 

   297  18 

Net gain  247  1 

Realised and unrealised gains or losses are usually recognised on a net basis. 
These include gains or losses arising on the disposal of non-current assets.

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting 
from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling 
expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (from the proceeds of sale).
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NOTE 3. Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

This section provides additional information about how PathWest obtains its funding 
and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and 
measurement of this funding. The primary income received by PathWest and the 
relevant notes are:

  Notes

Patient charges 3.1

Other fees for services 3.2

Income from State Government 3.3

Other income 3.4

3.1 Patient charges

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Inpatient charges  11,485  8,987 

Outpatient charges  23,085  24,129 

Total patient charges  34,570  33,116 

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest transfers control of 
the services to customers. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for inpatient and outpatient charges. The 
performance obligations for these inpatient and outpatient charges are satisfied 
when services have been provided.

3.2 Other fees for services

 
2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Pathology services to other health organisations  14,967  15,927 

Clinical services to other health organisations  54  70 

Non clinical services to other health organisations  372  85 

Total other fees for services  15,393  16,082 

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest transfers control of 
the services to customers. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for clinical, non-clinical and pathology 
services to other health organisations. The performance obligations for these services 
are satisfied when services have been provided.
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3.3 Income from State Government
  2022 2021
  $’000 $’000

Grant from other government agencies:    
Department of Health – Service Agreement  156,511  140,935 
Department of Health – Service Agreement 
(Commonwealth)  16,699  12,368 
Total Department of Health – Service 
Agreement received  173,210  153,303 
     
Income received from other public sector entities during 
the period:    
Department of Health  6,511  5,059 
Pathology services to other Health Services and other 
government agencies (a)  179,962  157,397 
Other grants and contributions  –  1,737 
Total grants and subsidies  186,473  164,193 
     
Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period:    
Products received from Health Support Services (HSS):  621  – 
Services received from Department of Finance  11  – 
Services received from Health Support Services (HSS):    

Information, communication and technology 
(ICT) services  10,241  8,193 
Supply chain services  3,677  1,293 
Financial services  473  702 
Human resource services  1,928  1,622 

Total resources received  16,951  11,810 
Total income from State Government  376,634  329,306 

(a) Represents pathology services billed to other Health Services (CAHS, SMHS, 
EMHS, NMHS and WACHS) and other government agencies (Department of 
Justice, WA Police and Insurance Commission of Western Australia).

Department of Health – Service Agreement are recognised as income at fair 
value of consideration received in the period in which PathWest gains control of the 
appropriated funds. PathWest gains control of appropriated funds at the time those 
funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for 
services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. Following the update in Treasurer’s 
Instructions 1102, revenue is recognised based on the immediate funding source.

Services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that PathWest would 
otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is 
recognised for services received. 

Products received free of charge or for nominal cost, that PathWest would 
otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is 
recognised for services received. 

3.4 Other income

 
2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Clinical trials  935  713 

Commercial pathology  1,607  2,848 

Other  239  458 

Total other income  2,781  4,019 

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest transfers control of 
the services to customers. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for clinical trials, commercial and other 
pathology services. The performance obligations are satisfied when services have 
been provided.
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NOTE 4. Key assets

Assets PathWest utilises for economic benefit or service potential

This section includes information regarding the key assets PathWest utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting 
policies and financial information about the performance of these assets:

  Notes

Property, plant and equipment 4.1

Intangibles 4.2

Right-of-use assets 4.3

Total key assets  

4.1 Property, plant and equipment 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, vehicles and other leased plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out 
in the tables below.

 

Carrying amount  
at start of  
the period Additions Disposals

Revaluation 
increments/ 

(decrements) Depreciation

Carrying amount  
at the end of  

the period

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
30 June 2022            

Buildings  65,391  –  –  11,247  (2,516)  74,122 

Leasehold improvements  1,629  1  –  –  (213)  1,417 

Computer equipment  144  57  –  –  (64)  137 

Furniture and fittings  92  –  –  –  (9)  83 

Medical equipment  18,491  4,764  (49)  –  (5,238)  17,968 

Other plant and equipment  663  204  (14)  –  (137)  716 

Works in progress  1,267  2,444  –    –  3,711 

Total  87,677  7,470  (63)  11,247  (8,177)  98,154 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Initial recognition

Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially 
at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no cost or significantly less than fair value, the 
cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter 
of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the leasehold 
improvement.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and 
equipment. Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment loss. All other items of property, plant and equipment are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Landgate) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

Buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2021 by Landgate. The valuation was performed 
during the year ended 30 June 2022 and recognised at 30 June 2022. In undertaking 
the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values: $74,122,300.

The valuation on 1 July 2020 did not differ materially from the carrying value 
assumed by PathWest at 30 June 2021.

As at 30 June 2022 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and 
equipment. 

Depreciation charge for the period

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Depreciation    

Buildings  2,516  2,516 

Leasehold improvements  213  213 

Computer equipment  64  86 

Furniture and fittings  9  9 

Medical equipment  5,238  5,098 

Other plant and equipment  137  116 

Total depreciation for the period  8,177  8,038 

Finite useful lives

All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the 
consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the 
asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Asset Useful Life
Buildings 50 years
Leasehold improvements Term of lease
Computer equipment 4 to 10 years
Furniture and fittings 5 to 20 years
Medical equipment 3 to 25 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made where 
appropriate.

Impairment

Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised. 

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss. Where a previously revalued 
asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement through other comprehensive income. 

As PathWest is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued 
specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying 
amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However, this reversal should 
not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in 
prior years.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling, or 
where there is significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of asset is 
reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to 
evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

4.2 Intangible assets

 
2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Computer software    

At cost  41,997  41,997 

Accumulated amortisation (7,699) (3,500)

   34,298  38,497 

Work in Progress    

Computer software under development (at cost)  4,697  387 

   38,995  38,884 

Reconciliations:  

Computer software    

Carrying amount at start of period  38,497  – 

Additions  –  41,997 

Amortisation (Note 4.2.1) (4,199) (3,500)

Carrying amount at end of period  34,298  38,497 

     

Work in progress    

Carrying amount at start of period  387  37,871 

Additions  4,310  4,513 

Transfers between asset classes  – (41,997)

Carrying amount at end of period  4,697  387 

106 PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

4.2 Intangible assets (continued)

Initial recognition

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no 
significantly less than fair value, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the 
following are demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 

available for use or sale;

• An intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;

• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete 
the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset 
during its development.

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing $5,000 or more that comply with the recognition criteria as 
per AASB 138.57 are capitalised. 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, 
plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in 
the year of acquisition.

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

4.2.1 Amortisation and impairment

Charge for the period

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Amortisation    

Computer software  4,199  3,500 

Total amortisation for the period  4,199  3,500 

As at 30 June 2022 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

PathWest held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during 
the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible 
assets not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight-line basis at 
rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible 
assets controlled by PathWest have a finite useful life and zero residual value. 
Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually. 

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Software 10 Years

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when 
an indication of impairment is identified.

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.
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4.3 Right-of-use assets

2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Buildings  8,266  4,372 

Motor vehicles  320  371 

Net carrying amount  8,586  4,743 

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2022 financial year were $6,521,845  
(2021: $2,101,836).

Initial recognition

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received; 

• any initial direct costs; and 

• restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

PathWest has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with 
an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments associated with these leases 
are expensed over a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Subsequent Measurement

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease 
liability.

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to PathWest at the end of the lease term or 
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using 
the estimated useful life of the asset.

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is 
identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.

4.3.1 Depreciation charge right-of-use assets

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income:

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Buildings  2,036  1,868 

Motor vehicles  282  232 

Total right-of-use asset depreciation  2,318  2,100 
     
Lease interest expense (included in Finance Cost note 6.2)  245  108 

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was $2,094,000 (2021: $2,049,000).

PathWest has leases for buildings and motor vehicles.

PathWest recognises leases as right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been 
disclosed in note 6.1.
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NOTE 5. Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from PathWest’s 
controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and 
liabilities incurred during normal operations: 

  Notes 

Receivables 5.1

Amounts receivable for services 5.2

Other current assets 5.3

Inventories 5.4

Payables 5.5

Other liabilities 5.6

5.1 Receivables

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Current    

Patient fee debtors  17,031  15,156 

Other receivables  2,197  2,510 

Less: Allowance for impairment of trade receivables  (1,763)  (1,707)

Accrued revenue  15,349  12,541 

GST Receivables  793  589 

Total receivables  33,607  29,089 

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any 
allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

5.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Non-current  116,276  101,637 

Balance at end of period  116,276  101,637 

Amounts receivable for services represents the non-cash component of service 
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or 
payment of leave liability.

Amounts receivable for services are not considered to be impaired (i.e. there is no 
expected credit loss of the Holding Account).

Amounts receivable for services are classified as non-current asset as there is no plan 
to draw down on the funds for at least 12 month after the end of the reporting period.

5.3 Other assets

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Current    

Prepayments  2,857  2,143 

Total current  2,857  2,143 

Balance at end of period  2,857  2,143 

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance 
of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting 
period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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5.4 Inventories

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Pharmaceutical stores – at cost  7,141  4,338 

Engineering stores – at cost  304  294 

Balance at end of period  7,445  4,632 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are 
assigned by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory.

All inventories are not held for resale and valued at cost unless they are not required, 
in which case they are valued at net realisable value.

5.5 Payables

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Current    

Trade payables  2,237  2,899 

Other payables  17  21 

Accrued expenses  12,097  8,028 

Accrued salaries  7,780  6,498 

Total current  22,131  17,446 

Balance at end of period  22,131  17,446 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when PathWest becomes obliged 
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as settlement is generally within 30 days.

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight after the reporting 
period end. PathWest considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its fair value.

5.6 Other liabilities

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Current    

Paid parental leave scheme  36  24 

Other  11  1 

Total current  47  25 

Balance at end of period  47  25 
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NOTE 6. Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the 
financing and cash flows of PathWest.

  Notes

Lease liabilities 6.1

Finance costs 6.2

Cash and cash equivalents 6.3

Capital commitments 6.4

6.1 Lease liabilities

The Statement of Financial Position shows the following amounts relating to lease 
liabilities:

 
2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Not later than one year  1,793  152 

Later than one year and not later than five years  4,687  4,344 

Later than five years  2,387  305 

   8,867  4,801 

     

Current  1,793  152 

Non-current  7,074  4,649 

   8,867  4,801 

Lease expenses recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income    

Lease interest expense  245  108 
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included 
in lease liabilities  950  659 

Short-term leases  149  281 

Total lease expense  1,344  1,048 

Initial measurement

PathWest measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value of the 
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments are discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, PathWest uses the 
incremental borrowing rate provided by Western Australia Treasury Corporation.

Lease payments included by PathWest as part of the present value calculation of lease liability 
include: 

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using the index 
or rate as at the commencement date; 

• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

• The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be exercised); 

• Payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects PathWest 
exercising an option to terminate the lease; and 

• Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by 
PathWest if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each 
period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes in variable lease payments (that 
depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability is reassessed 
and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are dependent 
on sales are recognised by PathWest in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that 
triggers those payments occurs.

This section should be read in conjunction with Note 4.3 Right-of-use assets.

Subsequent measurement

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and remeasuring 
the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any reassessment or 
lease modifications.
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6.2 Finance costs

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Lease interest expense  245  108 

   245  108 

Finance costs includes the interest component of lease liability repayments.

6.3 Cash and cash equivalents

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Current    

Cash and cash equivalents  29,385  25,270 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents    

– assets held for other specific purposes (a)  10,708  17,250 

Total current  40,093  42,520 

     

Non-current    

Restricted cash and cash equivalents    

– Accrued salaries suspense account (b)  5,691  4,065 

Total non-current  5,691  4,065 

Balance at end of period  45,784  46,585 

(a) Funds held for specific purposes including capital works.

(b) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a 
reporting period that occurs every 11th year.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

The accrued salaries suspense account consists of amounts paid annually, from 
PathWest appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to 
meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods 
with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

6.4 Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year  6,314  4,236 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  229  1 

Later than 5 years  –  19 

Total capital expenditure commitments  6,543  4,256 
 

The total value or quantum presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive.
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NOTE 7. Financial instruments and contingencies

This section sets out the key risk management policies and measurements techniques 
of PathWest.

  Notes

Financial instruments 7.1

Contingent liabilities 7.2.1

Contingent assets 7.2.2

7.1 Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

 
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Financial Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  29,385  25,270 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  16,399  21,315 

Financial assets at amortised cost  149,883  130,726 

Total financial assets  195,667  177,311 

     

Financial Liabilities    

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  22,131  17,446 

Total financial liabilities  22,131  17,446 

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best 
estimate.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively.

7.2.1 Contingent liabilities

The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the 
financial statements:

Litigation in progress

Three claims have been filed against PathWest. The potential financial effect of the 
success of the claims cannot be reliably measured at this time.

Contaminated sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, PathWest is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the Act, DWER classifies these sites on the 
basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where 
sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated 
– investigation required, PathWest may have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses.

At the reporting date, PathWest does not have any suspected contaminated sites 
reported under the Act.

7.2.2 Contingent assets

At the reporting date, PathWest does not have any contingent assets.
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NOTE 8. Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting 
standards or other pronouncements for the understanding of this financial report.

Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1

Key management personnel 8.2

Related party transactions 8.3

Related bodies 8.4

Affiliated bodies 8.5

Remuneration of auditors 8.6

Equity 8.7

Supplementary Financial Information 8.8

Explanatory statement 8.9

8.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

To the best of its knowledge, PathWest is not aware of any material events relating 
to the reporting period.

8.2 Key management personnel

PathWest has determined that key management personnel include cabinet ministers, 
members and senior officers of PathWest. However, PathWest is not obligated to 
compensate Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’ 
compensation may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation (total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary and other 
benefits) for members of the accountable authority of PathWest for the reporting 
period are presented within the following bands:

  2022 2021
Compensation band ($)    
$10,001 – $20,000  1  – 
$20,001 – $30,000  2  1 
$30,001 – $40,000  2  1 
$40,001 – $50,000  6  7 
$50,001 – $60,000  1  – 
$100,001 – $110,000  –  1 

 12  10 

Total compensation (total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary and other 
benefits) for senior officers of PathWest for the reporting period are presented within 
the following bands:
  2022 2021
Compensation band ($)    
$1 – $10,000  2  – 
$40,001 – $50,000  –  1 
$70,001 – $80,000  1  – 
$80,001 – $90,000  1  – 
$100,001 – $110,000  1  – 
$130,001 – $140,000  2  – 
$180,001 – $190,000  1  – 
$200,001 – $210,000  –  1 
$220,001 – $230,000  1  – 
$230,001 – $240,000  –  1 
$260,001 – $270,000  –  1 
$320,001 – $330,000  –  1 
$400,001 – $410,000  –  1 
$410,001 – $420,000  1  – 
$430,001 – $440,000  –  1 
$450,001 – $460,000  1  – 

 11  7 

  $’000 $’000
Total compensation of senior officers  2,321  2,385 
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8.3 Related party transactions

PathWest is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of 
Western Australia. 

Related parties of PathWest include:
• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 

controlled entities; 

• senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 
controlled entities;

• other agencies and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are 
included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements  
(i.e. wholly-owned public sector entities);

• associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material transactions with related parties

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with PathWest, there were no other 
related party transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their close 
family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities. 

8.4 Related Bodies

PathWest had no related bodies during the financial year.

8.5 Affiliated Bodies

PathWest has no affiliated bodies during the financial year.

8.6 Remuneration of auditors

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the 
current financial year is as follows:

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and controls 
and key performance indicators  170  165 

8.7 Equity

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Contributed equity    
Balance at start of period  191,980  175,728 
     
Contributions by owners    
Contribution by owners – Capital appropriation 
administered by Department of Health  8,015  16,252 
     
Balance at end of period  199,995  191,980 

8.8 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000
Revenue and debts written off under the authority of the 
Accountable Authority  283  364 
   283  364
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8.9 Explanatory statement

All variances between annual estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2022, 
and between the actual results for 2022 and 2021 are shown below. Narratives are 
provided for key major variances which vary more than 10% from their comparative and 
that the variation is more than 1% of:

• Total Cost of Services budgeted for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and 
Statement of Cash Flows; and

• Total Assets for the previous year for the Statement of Financial Position.

Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances

   Estimate 2022  Actual 2022  Actual 2021

Variance between 
actual and 

estimate

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES            
Expenses            

Employee benefits expense    243,123  266,573  246,362  23,450  20,211 

Domestic contracts    1,924  3,103  2,937  1,179  166 

Depreciation and amortisation expense    14,441  14,694  13,638  253  1,056 

Finance costs    106  245  108  139  137 

Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment    9,467  10,820  9,334  1,353  1,486 

Supplies and services 1, a  82,642  109,067  90,655  26,425  18,412 

Other expenses b  18,945  22,155  15,840  3,210  6,315 

Total cost of services    370,647  426,657  378,874  56,010  47,783 

Income            

Patient charges  2  39,038  34,570  33,116  (4,468)  1,454 

Other fees for services    15,657  15,393  16,082  (264)  (689)

Gain on disposal of non-current assets    –  247  1  247  246 

Other income    1,225  2,781  4,019  1,556  (1,238)

Total revenue    55,920  52,991  53,218  (2,929)  (227)

Total income other than income from State Government    55,920  52,991  53,218  (2,929)  (227)

NET COST OF SERVICES    314,728  373,666  325,656  58,938  48,010 
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances (continued)

   Estimate 2022  Actual 2022  Actual 2021

Variance between 
actual and 

estimate

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income from State Government            

Department of Health – Service Agreement 3, c  150,420  173,210  153,303  22,790  19,907 

Income from other public sector entities 4, d  152,797  186,473  164,193  33,676  22,280 

Products and Services received free of charge 5, e  9,010  16,951  11,810  7,941  5,141 

Total income from State Government    312,227  376,634  329,306  64,407  47,328 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD    (2,500)  2,968  3,650  5,468  (682)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME            

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss            

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 6, f  –  11,247  –  11,247  11,247 

Total other comprehensive income    –  11,247  –  11,247  11,247 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)  
FOR THE PERIOD  (2,500)  14,215  3,650  16,715  10,565 
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Variance Narratives

Variances between estimate and actual

Statement of Comprehensive Income

1 Supplies and Services costs are higher than estimate due to activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, activity driven reagent spend and higher allocation of shared 
service charges from Health Shared Services.

2 Patient Charges are lower than estimate due to lower than expected participation rates from Medicare and Private referred patients.
3 Service Appropriations are higher than estimate due to additional funding for COVID-19 and non COVID-19 related activities.
4 Income from Other Public Sector Entities are higher than estimate due to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 driven activity growth.
5 Services Received Free of Charge is higher than estimate due to increase shared service charges from Health Shared Services.
6 Asset Revaluation Surplus is higher than estimate due to higher than expected revaluation of buildings to fair value.

Variances between actual and actual

Statement of Comprehensive Income

a The increase in Supplies and Services is due to activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, activity driven reagent spend and higher allocation of shared service 
charges from Health Shared Services.

b The increase in Other Expenses is due to activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic and the LIS (Laboratory Information System) project.
c The increase in Service Appropriation is due to additional funding for COVID-19 related activities and non COVID-19 activities.
d The increase in Income from Other Public Sector Entities is due to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 driven activity growth.
e The increase in Services Received Free of Charge is due to the increase in shared service charges from Health Shared Services.
f The increase in other comprehensive income is due to the revaluation of buildings to fair value.
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Financial Position Variances

  Estimate 2022  Actual 2022  Actual 2021

Variance between 
actual and 

estimate

Variance between 
actual results for  

2022 and 2021

Variance Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS            

Current Assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 7, g  20,582  29,385  25,270  8,803  4,115 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 8, h  15,650  10,708  17,250  (4,942)  (6,542)

Receivables 9, i  29,089  33,607  29,089  4,518  4,518 

Inventories    4,632  7,445  4,632  2,813  2,813 

Other current assets    2,143  2,857  2,143  714  714 

Total Current Assets    72,096  84,002  78,384  11,906  5,618 

Non-Current Assets            

Restricted cash and cash equivalents    5,691  5,691  4,065  –  1,626 

Amounts receivable for services j  116,078  116,276  101,637  198  14,639 

Property, plant and equipment k  89,693  98,154  87,677  8,461  10,477 

Intangible assets    37,947  38,995  38,884  1,048  111 

Right-of-use assets 10, l  2,614  8,586  4,743  5,972  3,843 

Total Non-Current Assets    252,023  267,702  237,006  15,679  30,696 

TOTAL ASSETS    324,119  351,704  315,390  27,585  36,314 
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Financial Position Variances (continued)

  Estimate 2022  Actual 2022  Actual 2021

Variance between 
actual and 

estimate

Variance between 
actual results for  

2022 and 2021

Variance Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES            

Current Liabilities            

Payables 11, m  17,446  22,131  17,446  4,685  4,685 

Lease liabilities    152  1,793  152  1,641  1,641 

Employee related provisions    57,068  60,810  57,068  3,742  3,742 

Other current liabilities    25  47  25  22  22 

Total Current Liabilities    74,691  84,781  74,691  10,090  10,090 

Non-Current Liabilities            

Lease liabilities  12  2,487  7,074  4,649  4,587  2,425 

Employee related provisions    14,388  15,957  14,388  1,569  1,569 

Total Non-Current Liabilities    16,875  23,031  19,037  6,156  3,994 

TOTAL LIABILITIES    91,566  107,812  93,728  16,246  14,084 

             

NET ASSETS    232,553  243,892  221,662  11,339  22,230 

             

EQUITY            

Contributed equity    205,371  199,995  191,980  (5,376)  8,015 

Reserves 13, n  –  11,247  –  11,247  11,247 

Accumulated surplus  14  27,182  32,650  29,682  5,468  2,968 

TOTAL EQUITY    232,553  243,892  221,662  11,339  22,230 
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Variance Narratives

Variances between estimate and actual

Statement of Financial Position

7 Cash and Cash Equivalents is higher than estimate due to COVID-19 funding, additional appropriation following Annual Estimates submission and timing in accounts payable.

8 Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents is lower than estimate due to LIS (Laboratory Information System) and PathWest State Mortuary refurbishment related contractual 
payments.

9 Receivables is higher than estimate due to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 driven activity growth.

10 Right-of-Use Assets is higher than estimate due to the extension of a lease agreement for a period of greater than 5 years.

11 Payables is higher than estimate due to higher than expected COVID-19 and non COVID-19 related activities including LIS (Laboratory Information System) related operating 
expenses.

12 Lease Liabilities is higher than estimate due to the extension of a lease agreement for a period of greater than 5 years.

13 Reserves is higher than estimate due to revaluation of buildings to fair value.

14 Accumulated Surplus is higher than estimate due to the net impact of variances between estimate and actual result under the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Variances between actual and actual

Statement of Financial Position

g The increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents is from increased COVID-19 funding and timing in accounts payable.

h The decrease in Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents is due to LIS (Laboratory Information System) and PathWest State Mortuary refurbishment related contractual payments.

i The increase in Receivables is due to activity driven year-on-year growth in COVID-19 and non COVID-19 testing volumes.

j The increase in Amount Receivable for Services is due to the increase in Non-Cash Accrual Appropriation in relation to fixed assets depreciation and of leasing costs in 
compliance to the requirements of Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases).

k The increase in Property, Plant & Equipment is due to the revaluation of buildings to its fair value.

l The increase in Right-of-Use Assets is due to the extension of a lease agreement for a period of greater than 5 years.

m The increase in Payables is due to the increased COVID-19 and non COVID-19 related activities including LIS (Laboratory Information System) related operating expense.

n The increase in Reserves is due to the revaluation of buildings to fair value.
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Cash Flows Variances

   Estimate 2022  Actual 2022  Actual 2021

Variance between 
actual and 

estimate

Variance between 
actual results for  

2022 and 2021

Variance Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT            

Department of Health – Service Agreement 15, o  135,978  158,571  139,799  22,593  18,772 

Capital appropriations 16, p  13,391  8,015  16,252  (5,376)  (8,237)

Funds from other public sector entities 17, q  152,797  183,884  164,193  31,087  19,691 

Net cash provided by State Government    302,166  350,470  320,244  48,304  30,226 

             

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            

Payments            

Employees benefits    (243,123)  (259,980)  (241,750)  (16,857)  (18,230)

Supplies and services 18, r  (103,968)  (127,181)  (103,125)  (23,213)  (24,056)

Finance costs    (106)  (245)  (108)  (139)  (137)

Receipts            

Receipts from customers 19, s  39,038  31,190  26,346  (7,848)  4,844 

Other receipts t  16,882  18,509  23,052  1,627  (4,543)

Net cash used in operating activities    (291,277)  (337,707)  (295,585)  (46,430)  (42,122)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES            

Payments            

Purchase of non-current assets    (13,391)  (11,780)  (9,688)  1,611  (2,092)

Receipts            

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets    –  310  18  310  292 

Net cash used in investing activities    (13,391)  (11,470)  (9,670)  1,921  (1,800)
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

   Estimate 2022  Actual 2022  Actual 2021

Variance between 
actual and 

estimate

Variance between 
actual results for  

2022 and 2021

Variance Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES            

Payments            

Principal elements of lease payments    (2,162)  (2,094)  (2,049)  68  (45)

Net cash used in financing activities    (2,162)  (2,094)  (2,049)  68  (45)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (4,664)  (801)  12,940  3,863  (13,741)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period    46,585  46,585  33,645  –  12,940 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF THE PERIOD    41 921  45,784  46,585  3,863  (801)
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Variance Narratives

Variances between estimate and actual

Statement of Cash Flows

15 Service Appropriation is higher than estimate due to additional funding relating to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 activities.

16 Capital Appropriations is lower than estimate due to lower spending on capital projects that were impacted by COVID-19.

17 Funds from Other Public Sector Entities is higher than estimate due to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 driven activity growth.

18 Supplies and Services is higher than estimate due to activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic activity driven reagent spend.

19 Receipts from Customers is lower than estimate due to lower Medicare and Private Patient Revenue and activity driven increase in Receivables.

Variances between actual and actual

Statement of Cash Flows

o The increase in Service Appropriations is due to additional funding relating to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 activity growth.

p The decrease in Capital Appropriations is due to lower spending on capital projects that were impacted by COVID-19.

q The increase in Funds from Other Public Sector Entities is due to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 driven activity growth.

r The increase in Supplies and Services is due to activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic activity driven reagent spend.

s The increase in Receipts from Customers is due to COVID-19 and non COVID-19 driven activity growth.

t The decrease in Other Receipts is due to decrease in Commercial activities.
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Ministerial directives
Treasurer’s Instruction 903(12) requires HSPs to disclose any ministerial directives 
relevant to the setting or achievement of desired outcomes or operational objectives, 
investment activities, and financial activities. 

PathWest did not receive any ministerial directives in 2021/22.

Pricing policy
Pathology fees and charges are set under Division 4 of the Health Services (Fees 
and Charges) Order 2016 and are reviewed annually. 

PathWest charges patients for pathology services in accordance with Section 7.5 of 
the WA Health - Patient Fees and Charges Manual 2021/22 issued by the 
Department of Health dated July 2021. 

Capital works
PathWest had a substantial Asset Investment Program in the improvement of key 
operational assets and systems during the 2021/22 financial year.

Major capital works  
in progress

Estimated 
total cost 
2020/21

$’000

Estimated 
total cost 
2021/22

$’000

Estimated 
completion 

date

Replacement of Laboratory 
Information System (LIS)

52,137 54,100 Oct 2022

PathWest State Mortuary 7,500 8,700 Feb 2023

Employment profile  
Government agencies are required to report a summary of the number of employees 
on an FTE basis, compared with the preceding financial year. Total FTE includes 
phlebotomy, scientific and technical staff engaged on a temporary basis for the 
COVID-19 response.

By staff category 2020/21 FTE 2021/22 FTE Difference

Administration      220.90         228.74      7.84 

Anthropologist           1.00             1.00       -   

Consultant Pathologist        96.60         101.48          4.88 

IT        33.50           45.45         11.95 

Nursing           0.20             0.85           0.65 

Odontologist           0.20             0.47           0.27 

Phlebotomy      129.30         156.47         27.17 

Registrar        44.80           46.49           1.69 

Scientist      741.40         755.57         14.17 

Technical      602.80         648.50         45.70 

Total FTE   1,870.70     1,985.02        114.32 
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Industrial relations 
PathWest Industrial Relations continues to promote and foster productive 
relationships with employees, unions and key stakeholders.

Major industrial relations activities undertaken in the 2021/22 period include:

• Representation and advocacy in matters before the WA Industrial Relations 
Commission, Public Sector Arbitrator and Public Sector Appeal Board.

• Advice and interpretation of industrial agreements and their application.

• Advice and case management of claims and disputes related to investigations, 
disciplinary matters and contractual claims such as conditions and entitlements.

• Ongoing advice and support for the implementation of workforce changes, 
including implementation of new shifts and increased hours/days of operation.

• Development, review and implementation of workforce policies, systems and 
processes relating to industrial relations.

• Participation in forums and working groups where required. This included weekly 
then fortnightly WA Health system COVID-19 related forums.

• Management of COVID-19 enquiries and log documents.

• Advice and management of industrial elements of fitness for work matters.

• Advice on matters relating to strategic planning, where required. 

• PathWest representation at a system-wide level on industrial matters including: 

o bargaining negotiations 

o providing feedback on log of claims and HSP sought changes

o management of COVID-19 leave, close contact and vaccination mandate related 
disciplinary cases

o management of the conversion to permanency and required reporting

o management of the casual entitlement to long service leave and its roll out

o discussions regarding general issues arising across the health system that may 
impact on other HSPs and vice versa.

Workers compensation
PathWest recorded 24 Workers Compensation Claims in 2021/22, which is a 
reduction of five on the previous year. PathWest will continue to apply increased 
focus to early intervention and fitness for duty to reduce the severity and longevity 
of claims, or eliminate progression to workers compensation, where appropriate. 

Nature of Injury 2020/21 2021/22

BurnsBurns 0 0

Contusion and crushing 0 0

Foreign body, ear, eye, nose, respiratory 0 1

Fractures 0 3

Mental disorders 1 2

Musculoskeletal system - disorders muscles and  
other soft tissue

1 5

Open wound 2 2

Sprains, strains and dislocations 18 8

Superficial injury 5 1

Disorders nerve roots, plexuses 0 1

All other diseases 2 1

Total number of workplace injuries claimed 29 24
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Unauthorised use of credit cards
PathWest uses purchasing cards for purchasing goods and services to achieve 
savings through improved administrative efficiency and more effective cash 
management. A purchasing card is a credit card that provides a clear audit trail for 
management.

PathWest credit cards are only provided to employees who are required to make 
purchases on behalf of PathWest. Credit cards are strictly not for personal use.  
Should a card holder use a credit card for personal use, they are required to submit 
a Notice of Non-Compliance and refund the total amount spent within five working 
days.

During 2021/22, there was a total of nine such instances of personal use pertaining 
to PathWest credit cards totalling $597.00, with $0 outstanding as at 30 June 2022. 
No referrals for disciplinary action were instigated during the reporting period.

Expenditure on advertising 
In accordance with Section175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 PathWest is required to 
report its total advertising expenditure. In 2021/22 the total expenditure incurred 
was $559.00. The organisations from which advertising services were procured and 
the amount paid to each organisation are detailed in the table below:

 Category Provider $

Media  
advertising 
organisations

Collie Community Publishing Pty Ltd $180.00

Lester Blades $379.00

Total $559.00

Indemnity Insurance
In 2021/22, the insurance premium paid to indemnify any ‘director’ (defined in Part 3 
of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996) against liability 
incurred under sections 13 or 14 of that Act was $25,334.65 (including GST).
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Board remuneration 

Position title Member name
Type of  

remuneration
2021-22 period  
of membership Term of appointment

2021-22 gross 
remuneration

Chair Angie Paskevicius Annual 12 Months 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 69,841.77

Deputy Chair Tarun Weeramanthri Annual 12 Months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 33,735.28 

Member Gelareh Farshid Annual 12 Months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 45,971.38

Member Kim Hames Annual 12 Months 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 45,971.38

Member Sue van Leeuwen Annual 6 Months 1 July 2020 to 31 December 2021 24,753.82

Member Rob McPhee Annual 12 Months
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022
(Reappointed for a further 1 year on 1 July 2022)

45,971.82

Member Christobel Saunders Annual 12 Months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 59,714.95

Member Kevin Taylor Annual 12 Months
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022
(Reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2022)

45,971.82

Member Samantha Elder Annual 12 Months 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023 45,971.82

Member Michele Dolin Annual 12 Months
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2022
(Reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2022)

45,971.82

Total 463,875.86

Notes:
1. Christobel Saunders retired as Board Chair in November 2021 becoming a member only, with Angie Paskevicius taking on the position as Board Chair.

2. Tarun Weeramanthri had a leave of absence from Board activities October 2021 and June 2022.  Following this leave, Tarun returned as an active member of the PathWest Board. 
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Substantive equality
PathWest remains committed to raising awareness of opportunities for Aboriginal 
people through various recruitment and training initiatives. Additionally, PathWest 
continues to encourage Aboriginal cultural awareness throughout the organisation, 
with ongoing focus on cultural identity and enrichment. 

PathWest adheres to the WA Health Substantive Equality Policy and addresses all 
forms of systemic discrimination in service delivery. PathWest recognises the 
importance of a diverse workforce and upholds the principles of substantive 
equality.

Aboriginal workforce
Through the WA Health Aboriginal Workforce Policy (Employment Policy 
Framework), that aligns with the Public Sector Commission’s Aboriginal employment 
target of 3.2 per cent, PathWest continues work to increase Aboriginal employment 
within its workforce. 

Initiatives include: 

• Employing a full-time Aboriginal Workforce Consultant, based within Workforce 
Services. 

• The application of section 51 of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 to recruitment 
processes. 

• Identifying employment pathways for Aboriginal people. 

• Offering employment opportunities for Aboriginal cadets, interns, graduates  
and/or trainees. 

• Offering employment opportunities to Aboriginal Medical Science graduates. 

PathWest continues to offer an Aboriginal scholarship program, with successful 
applicants undertaking PathWest’s six-week Certificate III in Pathology Collection 
course. The scholarship covers all course costs, and targets those seeking a career 
in phlebotomy; it also provides graduates a three-month fixed-term contract with 
PathWest. 

In 2021/22 PathWest participated in the WA Health Aboriginal Cadetship Program, 
offering placements to Aboriginal students who are enrolled in full-time university 
studies across various areas of study. The program aims to provide Aboriginal 
students with paid work experience and further employment opportunities. 

Cultural awareness training
The Aboriginal Cultural eLearning course was released to all WA health system 
staff in 2021 and is mandatory training requirement for all PathWest staff. The 
course is designed to continue to promote a culturally competent and responsive 
workforce. 

Equal employment opportunities 
The PathWest Equal Employment Opportunity Management Plan 2021/22 outlines 
PathWest’s commitment to equity and diversity, and in particular highlighting 
strategies relating to the six identified diversity groups:

• Women in Senior Executive Service 

• Youth 

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 

• Culturally and Linguistically diverse people 

• People with disability 

• People of diverse sexualities and genders. 

Language services 
Consistent with the WA Health System Language Services Policy, PathWest  
staff have access to language assistance services to ensure all customers or  
clients who require assistance with the English language or who are deaf or hard 
of hearing are provided with access to appropriate interpreting and translation 
assistance.
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WA Multicultural Policy Framework
PathWest fosters an inclusive and harmonious workplace ensuring everyone, 
regardless of their sex, ethnicity, physical ability, marital status, religion, political 
conviction, age or gender identification, has a strong sense of belonging within the 
organisation.  

In late 2021, the PathWest Multicultural Plan 2021-25 was published, outlining the 
vision for an inclusive and harmonious workplace where everyone can contribute 
fully in all aspects of the workplace. 

The plan defines strategies and actions PathWest will take to strengthen the 
diversity and cultural competence of our workforce, eliminating systematic 
discrimination and delivering a health service which is welcoming, inclusive and 
equitable for all. 

In line with the WA Charter of Multiculturalism, that demonstrates the Western 
Australian Government’s commitment to multiculturalism, the PathWest 
Multicultural Plan is founded on four principles:

• Civic Values 

• Fairness 

• Equality 

• Participation. 

It identifies key objectives for government to achieve an inclusive and harmonious 
society. The policy emphasises the importance of mutual respect, substantive 
equality, and a commitment to shared values. 

It was also written in line with the WA Multicultural Policy Framework  
(WAMPF), which provided a structure for PathWest to direct efforts in  
achieving the government’s vision for multiculturalism in Western Australia  
through effective leadership, planning, service provision and engagement  
with communities. 

The three main policy priorities outlined in the WAMPF which PathWest adopted 
are: 

• Policy Priority 1: Harmonious and inclusive communities 

• Policy Priority 2: Culturally responsive policies, programs and services

• Policy Priority 3: Economic, social, cultural, civic and political participation. 
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Work health and safety and injury 
management
Ensuring the health, safety and wellbeing of employees, visitors, students and 
contractors is of vital importance to PathWest.

To continuously improve in this area, PathWest increased the organisation’s WHS 
capability in 2021/22, with the establishment and recruitment of the Manager of 
WHS, as well as two additional Consultant positions across WHS and Injury 
Management (IM).

Throughout 2021/22, the PathWest WHS Department focused on stakeholder 
engagement, consultation with work areas and work groups, as well as confirming 
the current gaps in the Safety Management System to develop strategies to 
address gaps and achieve legislative compliance. To assist these internal efforts, 
PathWest engaged an external consultant to audit the organisation against its 2019 
WorkSafe Plan – achieving significant improvement across the five elements, as 
outlined below:

An action plan to address the audit results will be developed and implemented in 
2022/23.

Element
Rating 
2022

Rating 
2019

1. Management Commitment1. Management Commitment 64% 46%

2. Planning 66% 49%

3. Consultation and Reporting 64% 51%

4. Hazard Management 56% 46%

5. Training and Supervision 69% 55%

Overall Rating (Submittable score to Worksafe i.e. 
the lowest scoring Element) 56% 46%

Average Element Rating 64% 49%

Hazard and incident reporting
Effective risk management within WHS is dependent on ensuring workers have the 
capability, as well as organisational support, to formally lodge and escalate a 
hazard and/or incident that occurs within a PathWest work area. 

For PathWest to be aware of and effectively eliminate or minimise risk, all staff 
play a key role in ensuring hazards and incidents are reported and escalated via 
designated pathways. The intention is to ensure the risk is known and understood, 
thus enabling the hierarchy of controls to be applied.

Quarterly reporting demonstrates an encouraging trend regarding incident report 
submissions. A key priority for 2022/23 will be promoting and encouraging all 
PathWest staff to report hazards in the workplace to ensure PathWest can continue 
to apply the appropriate risk management plan.

Hazards Incidents

Q1 5 52

Q2 3 51

Q3 8 39

Q4 4 29

Total 20 171

PathWest also monitors mechanisms of incident and injury as this enables targeted 
risk management strategies to control identified risk, as well as the application of 
lessons learned to other work areas. The five primary mechanisms of incident and 
injury for 2021/22 were: 

• Occupational Exposure

• Manual Tasks

• Workplace Aggression and Violence

• Chemical Contact

• Slips/Trips/Falls. 
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Injury Management Performance 

Measures (%)
Results

2020/2021
Results

2021/2022 Target Achievement

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Target achieved

Lost time injury and disease incidence rate 0.5 0.32 0 or 10% improvement on the  
previous 3 years Target achieved

Lost time injury and severity rate 9.17 3.08 0 or 10% improvement on the  
previous 3 years Target achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned to work  
(i) within 13 weeks 87.5 80 100% or 10% improvement on  

previous 3 years Target not achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned to work  
(ii) within 26 weeks 87.5 100 >80% returned to work  

within 26 weeks Target achieved

Percentage of managers trained in occupational  
safety, health and injury management responsibilities, 
including refresher training within 3 years

75 64 Greater than or equal to  
80% Target not achieved

Injury management performance

The WHS team supported managers throughout 2021/22 to ensure active 
engagement of staff in relation to injury prevention and management.

With the addition of an IM Consultant in April 2022, PathWest has a dedicated 
resource to lead the organisations provision of pre-employment health 

assessments, workers compensation and claims management, return to work 
programs and fitness for duty. They also provide general consultancy services for 
PathWest to ensure an efficient and compliant IM system is provided and 
maintained in accordance with the Workers Compensation and Injury Management 
Act 1981 (WA) and the Workers Compensation and Injury Management Regulations 
1982 (WA).

Human Factors and Ergonomics 
Intervention
A Human Factors and Ergonomics Intervention was 
conducted across PathWest laboratories in 2021/22, 
aiming to address reported manual task related 
upper limb discomfort, reduce body stressing and 
fatigue contributions while improving task 
efficiencies. 

Laboratories in metropolitan and regional areas were 
included at various stages through either 
consultation, trialling, implementation or evaluation 
of interventions including task specific seating for:

• microscope usage;

• performing tasks in biological safety cabinets; and

• the variety of anthropological characteristics of 
staff at laboratory benches.

A chair replacement program is ongoing, with 

seating solutions provided to address laboratory 
specific requirements and infection prevention and 
management strategies. 

Changes to the seating have been favourably 
received by the laboratory staff across the State and 
have had a positive impact – reducing manual task 
discomfort, incidents and injuries. Staff have 
reported increased comfort, durability, and suitability 
for their work.

133 PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22



Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
PathWest’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) covers the period 2016 to 
2021, and aims to ensure people with a disability: 

• have the same opportunities as other people to access PathWest services.

• receive information from PathWest in an appropriate format that allows them 
access to the information.

• receive the same level and quality of service from PathWest staff as other 
people receive.

• have the same opportunities as other people to provide feedback and make 
complaints to PathWest.

• have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by PathWest.

• have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain employment 
with PathWest.

Many of PathWest’s facilities are managed and maintained by other HSPs and 
therefore has limited capacity to influence facility changes to improve the patient 
experience. However, PathWest works constructively with other HSPs to identify 
opportunities to improve access and inclusion of people with disabilities to services 
and employment.

PathWest ensures newly leased collection centre facilities meet DAIP requirements, 
and continues to work closely with lessors and facilities management teams to 
improve existing facilities to provide adequate access to clients. 

An updated PathWest DAIP will be developed in late 2022.

Compliance with public sector standards and 
ethical codes
All PathWest staff remain responsible for ensuring their conduct reflects required 
standards, set out by the WA Health Code of Conduct (Integrity Policy Framework). 
The Code of Conduct has been developed to comply with the WA Public Sector 
Commission’s (PSC) Code of Ethics.

Systems and processes are in place to ensure staff compliance with relevant 
standards, policy and legislation. All policies are available for staff access, either on 
the Department of Health Policy Frameworks website, the PSC website, PathWest 
Healthpoint intranet, or via the Workforce Services team. Workforce Services and 
Integrity and Ethics are available to provide advice and support to staff.

In this reporting period, PathWest received two breach of standard claims relating 
to breaches of the Employment Standard (recruitment). Both claims with withdrawn 
by the claimants, prior to the claims being referred to the PSC for review. There 
were no claims lodged in relation to Grievance Resolution or Performance 
Management. 

PathWest managed 85 cases of a potential breach of discipline, and finalised 83 
disciplinary processes, including 17 relating to non-compliance with mandatory 
COVID-19 vaccination requirements. As at 30 June 2022, PathWest was managing 
21 active complaints of a potential breach of discipline. 

Breaches of the Code of Conduct are considered breaches of discipline under the 
Health Services Act 2016. Pursuant to the WA Health Discipline Policy (Integrity 
Policy Framework), PathWest is required to review, assess and investigate all 
complaints alleging a breach of discipline. 

To ensure all staff are aware of and educated about the policies with which they 
must comply, a calendar of training activities throughout the year is available, 
which includes PathWest’s online induction program, core performance 
management training, ethical decision-making training, and recruitment and 
selection training.
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Job security review
The preferred mode of employment according to the WA Health System – HSUWA 
– PACTS Industrial Agreement 2020 and the WA Health System – United Workers 
Union (WA) – Hospital Support Workers Industrial Agreement 2020 (The 
Agreements), is permanent employment.  

Following on from the successful implementation of Commissioner’s Instruction 23 
in August 2018, PathWest has continued to review fixed term contract and casual 
employees in accordance with new Job Security Review clauses included in the 
industrial agreements from December 2020.  Since 2018, 310 PathWest employees 
have been converted to permanency – a 37 per cent conversion rate at 30 June 
2022.

In 2021/22 specifically, PathWest reviewed the employment arrangements for 273 
fixed term contract and casual employees to ensure employment arrangements 
were aligned to circumstances provided for in the Agreements, and that employees 
were being appointed permanently where possible.  

Of those employees reviewed, 34 were converted to permanent, representing a 
conversion rate of 12 per cent. The low rate of conversion signifies that PathWest 
is engaging employees using the appropriate mode of employment. PathWest will 
continue to examine employment arrangements as fixed term contract and casual 
employees become eligible to be reviewed.

Recordkeeping plans
In accordance with Section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, PathWest has an 
approved recordkeeping plan with the State Records Office.

PathWest continues to use its in-house document management application for the 
management of some records and participate in working groups to review the 
Retention and Disposal Schedules for administrative and patient records.

All staff are required to complete a mandatory online training module about 
recordkeeping on commencement of employment.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA) gives all Western Australians a right to 
access information held by PathWest.

Access to information can be made through a Freedom of Information (FOI) 
application that involves the lodgement of a written request, which must provide 
enough detail to enable the application to be processed, including contact details 
and an Australian address for correspondence.

In 2021/22, 25 FOI applications were made, all of which were given full access. 
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Risk and audit management
PathWest continued to develop and improve its internal audit and risk management 
functions throughout 2021/22. 

The amalgamation of the Finance Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee to 
form a new Finance, Risk and Audit Committee (FRAC) in early 2022 has further 
strengthened the level of Board oversight of PathWest’s audit and risk activities. 
The FRAC continues to meet on a quarterly basis and helps set the strategy for 
PathWest’s risk and audit activities.  

Following the alignment of the risk management and audit functions in 2020/21, 
PathWest appointed a Risk Management Coordinator to help improve its processes 
and practices for identifying, assessing, reporting and managing risk. A risk 
management road map has been developed to identify key actions that will help 
ensure PathWest continues to employ best-practice contemporary enterprise risk 
management practices into the future.    

Risk Management
PathWest appointed a Risk Management Coordinator to a newly created position in 
November 2021. The additional resource allowed PathWest to identify several key 
projects that have helped drive significant improvements in its enterprise risk 
management system. 

This has included the development and endorsement of PathWest’s inaugural Risk 
Appetite Statement; the finalisation and endorsement of PathWest’s Risk 
Management Framework incorporating policy; procedures and templates; the 
development of risk management training materials including an intranet page that 
provides a one-stop shop for risk management documents; improvements to the 
structure, set-up and content of risk registers in the Enterprise Risk Management 
System; and the development of dashboard style reporting to the FRAC, improving 
their focus on key risks and exceptions.  

Internal Audit
PathWest employs a three-year, risk-based rolling Strategic Internal Audit Plan, 
incorporating an Annual Internal Audit plan to help ensure internal audit activity is 
focused on key risk areas. 

To deliver its Annual Internal Audit Plan, PathWest operates a co-sourced 
resourcing model. Approximately 60 per cent of the plan is delivered by consulting 
firm PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and the remaining 40 per cent is delivered 
in-house.  During 2021/22 PathWest delivered all its planned audits, including the 
following, focusing on:

• Clinical Incidents management

• Compliance management

• IT governance

• Laboratory Information System governance

• Cyber security

• Medicare Benefits Schedule ompliance with Complex Billing Rules

• Pre-Analytical transit of Anatomical pathology samples

• Staff and Patient security in PathWest Collection Centres

• Procurement  

PathWest also proactively monitors and reports on outstanding audit 
recommendations to ensure these are implemented by their due dates. As at 30 
June 2022, 33 recommendations were outstanding, including 17 that are high risk. 
All of these are progressing in line with their approved due dates. 
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Patient and customer feedback
PathWest seeks and welcomes feedback from patients, clients and customers as a 
mechanism to identify opportunities for improving its service. Types of feedback 
received include complaints, concerns, compliments and suggestions for improving 
our service. 

Feedback can be received through many channels including: through personal 
contact at collection centres, via the PathWest website ‘Contact Us’ webpage or 
‘Care Opinion’ link, or by phoning the 13 PATH (7284) telephone line. 

In July 2021, PathWest implemented the Department of Health electronic solution 
for the recording of feedback and provide improved monitoring of the commitment 
to:

•  acknowledge feedback within five working days of receipt 

•  assess and investigate all issues raised

•  keep patients, clients and customers informed of the resolution process 

• provide a final response within 30 days of receipt, in cases where contact details  
are provided

•  implement changes and improvements identified

Throughout 2021/22,116 complaints/concerns were received by PathWest through 
formal feedback channels. This was a reduction on the total numbers received in 
the previous year. Most complaints focused on access to services, with decreased 
numbers of concerns raised across most categories. 

The majority of the 41 compliments received praise PathWest’s frontline 
phlebotomy staff and highlight the significant contribution PathWest scientific and 
clinical staff play as members of a multidisciplinary health care team in the delivery 
of life saving clinical care.  

Some examples of feedback received:

Categories of complaints and concerns

2020/21 2021/22

Access 109 57

Communication 65 25

Corporate Services 3 1

Costs 1 1

Professional conduct 10 11

Quality of clinical care 20 10

Rights, respect and dignity 14 11

Total 222 116

Compliments received 51 41

I wanted to thank the blood bank for the tremendous service we 
received today... We are extremely fortunate to have people like you 
and your (PathWest) team in this hospital. Please pass on my sincere 
thanks to everyone in the department.

All of us in theatre yesterday (surgeons, anaesthetists, techs and 
nurse) would like to pass on our thanks to the team in (PathWest) 
transfusion who helped us with the major haemorrhage in our 
oncology surgical case in theatre one yesterday.

Thank you from the Neonatal CCU for the (PathWest) transfusion 
support to a neonate affected with life threatening Haeamolytic 
Disease of the Newborn.
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Learning from clinical incidents
A clinical incident is an event resulting from the provision of health care that could 
have, or did, lead to the unintended harm of a patient. PathWest actively 
encourages all staff to report clinical incidents. The process of investigating 
incidents is undertaken consistent with the Clinical Incident Management Policy 
(Clinical Governance, Safety and Quality Policy Framework) and is fundamental in 
the prevention of future harm to patients. 

During the year, all reported clinical incidents were investigated and, where 
appropriate, recommendations implemented to improve patient safety. The timely 
communication with patients around adverse outcomes through the open disclosure 
process provides transparency, and assurance to those who may have suffered 
harm, that PathWest takes seriously our commitment to mitigate risk of 
reoccurrence.  

Clinical incidents resulting in serious harm to a patient are assigned a Severity 
Assessment Code (SAC) rating of SAC 1. There were no SAC 1 clinical incidents 
reported by PathWest in 2021/22. 

PathWest undertakes root cause analyses for all serious incidents to ensure 
improvement opportunities can be identified and implemented. Working closely 
with other health service providers, PathWest contributes to multi-service 
investigations to ensure all aspects of the patient heath care journey are examined 
when there has been a clinical incident, and there are shared learnings from these 
investigations across the spectrum of health services involved.   

Accreditation
PathWest services in medical, forensic, biological and environmental testing 
continue to hold accreditation based on international and national standards for 
testing laboratories. All PathWest human pathology testing laboratories are 
accredited by NATA to the International Standard ISO 15189:2012 Medical 
laboratories – Requirements for quality and competence, and requirements 
prescribed by the National Pathology Accreditation Advisory Council (NPAAC).

As well as human pathology testing laboratories, PathWest operates a forensic 
testing laboratory and two biological testing laboratories, in the specialties of 
environmental testing and media production. These three facilities have continued 
their accreditation by NATA to AS ISO/IEC 17025: 2018: General requirements for 
the competence of testing and calibration laboratories. 

NATA also assess the toxicology laboratory and supporting collection services to 
Australian Standard AS/NZS 4308:2008 Procedures for Specimen Collection and the 
Detection and Quantitation of Drugs of Abuse in Urine.

Assessment of laboratories by accreditation bodies have been a mix of on-site and 
virtual on-line assessments over the past year due to the continued impact the 
COVID-19 pandemic has had on inter and intrastate travel. Despite the challenges 
of the differing assessment formats, all laboratories have maintained their 
continuing accreditation status in all fields of testing including forensic, medical 
and environmental.

In addition, the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing assessed 
PathWest against the Security Sensitive Biological Agent Standards (2013) - 
Standards for the handling, storage, disposal and transport of security sensitive 
biological agents and suspected security sensitive biological agents, and confirmed 
PathWest’s continued compliance with these standards.  

138 PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22



139 PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2021/22



ACHS Australian Council of Healthcare Standards 

AIMS Australian Institute of Clinical and Medical 
Scientists

AP Anatomical Pathology

ARR aldosterone to renin ratio 

AS Australian Standard

AVS Adrenal vein samplings

BMTU Bone Marrow Transplant Unit

CAR-T Chimeric Antigen Receptor T

CHHP Community Health and Hospital Program

CSRA Central Specimen Reception Area

CT Computerised Tomography

DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DISH dual in situ hybridisation 

DNA deoxyribonucleic acid

EAP Employee Assistance Program

ED Emergency Department

EDI Equity, Diversity and Inclusion

ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

FBAC Forensic Biology Advisory Council

FBD Forensic Biology Department

FISH fluorescence in situ hybridisation 

FMT Faecal Microbiome Transplant Project

FRAC Finance, Risk and Audit Committee

FSH Fiona Stanley Hospital

FTE Full time equivalent

GST General Services Tax

HAS Health Services Act 2016

HLA human leukocyte antigens

HSP Health Service Provider

IHL Institute of Health Leadership

IM Injury Management

ISO International Organisation for Standardisation

KPI Key Performance Indicators

LIS Laboratory Information System

LMS Learning Management System

ME Micro elastography

MLA Member of the Legislative Assembly

NATA National Association of Testing Authorities

NGS Next Generation Sequencing

NMHS North Metropolitan Health Service

NPAAC National Pathology Accreditation Advisory 
Council

OBM Outcome Based Management

OCT optical coherence tomography

ONT Oxford Nanopore Technology

PA Primary Aldosteronism

PCH Perth Children’s Hospital

PCR polymerase chain reaction

PEth Phosphatidylethanol

PSC Public Sector Commission

QAP Quality Assurance Program

QEII Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre

RAT Rapid Antigen Tests

RCPA Royal College Pathologists Australasia

RGS Research Governance System

RhD Rhesus D 

RNA Ribonucleic Acid

RPH Royal Perth Hospital

SAC Severity Assessment Code

SCC Soft Computer Consultants

SCGH Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital

TAT Turn-around times

TMU Transfusion Medicine Unit

UWA University of Western Australia

VITT Vaccine Induced Thrombocytopenia

WA Western Australia

WACIC WA COVID-19 Immunity Collaborative

WAMPF WA Multicultural Framework

WAPF WA Police Force

WGS whole genome sequencing

WHS Work health and safety

YVIH Your Voice in Health

Appendix 1 – Abbreviations and acronyms
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Street address: Building A, Level 2, Pathology Building, Fiona Stanley Hospital, 11 Robin Warren Drive, Murdoch WA 6150

Postal address: Locked Bag 100, Palmyra DC WA 6961

Phone: 13 PATH (7284)

Email: PathWest.OfficeofCE@health.wa.gov.au

Website: pathwest.health.wa.gov.au

http://pathwest.health.wa.gov.au
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